
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A 

A meeting of the above Panel will be held virtually on   
 

Monday 21 September 2020 

 
Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) 
Councillor I D Armitt JP (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor A E D Barham 
Councillor D Butler-Ruhle 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor P Cutler 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor R Gosine 
 

Councillor S N Gosine 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor V Oguntope 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor M I Peters 
Councillor D J Reynolds 
Councillor L J Reynolds 
 
 

Cabinet 

A meeting of the above will be held virtually on  
 

Thursday 24 September 2020 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman) 

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 

Councillor S H Brown Councillor A R Lloyd Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells   

 
Both virtual meetings will start at 5.00pm. 

Details of how to view the meetings will appear on the Council’s web site 

 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) 

Wednesday 16 September 2020 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

 
CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A  

Monday 21 September 2020 
 

CABINET 
Thursday 24 September 2020 

 

AGENDA 
 

Viewing these meetings on YouTube 

The meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel A may be viewed on YouTube by opening the link 
below: 
 
https://youtu.be/QDqreQuR1HI 
 
 
The meeting of the Cabinet may be viewed on YouTube by opening the link below: 
 
https://youtu.be/hgVKtnSCReY 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
the Strategic Director Internal Services). 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held 
on 23 July 2020 (Pages 1 - 6) 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC 

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 21 
September 2020  

 

 To follow 
 

 

6. References from Committees   

 None at this stage. 
 
 
 
 

 

https://youtu.be/QDqreQuR1HI
https://youtu.be/hgVKtnSCReY


 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations 

7. Consultation on Changes to Planning Policy and Regulations 
(Pages 7 - 66) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To consider a response to the Government Consultation on Changes 
to the Current Planning System. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the responses to the questions set out in Appendix B to the 
report should form the Council’s response to the Government 
Consultation on Changes to the Current Planning System. 
 

 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports 

8. Parking Services Annual Report (Pages 67 - 90)  

 Summary: 
 
To consider the 2018-20 Parking Services Annual Report. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
To consider, note and agree the Parking Services Annual Report 
2018-20, attached at Appendix A to the report, in the light of any 
comments from the Joint Transportation Board, for publication on the 
Council’s web site. 
 

 

9. Guidance - Prioritising Investigation of Reported Parking Issues 
and Parking Management Schemes (Pages 91 - 96) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To consider new guidance for prioritising reported parking issues in 
the Borough for investigation and development of parking schemes to 
address identified problems. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That  the Guidance on Prioritising the Investigation and 
Implementation of Parking Management Schemes, attached at 
Appendix A to the report, be adopted as part of the Council’s process 
for prioritising reported parking issues in the Borough as outlined in 
paragraph 3.8 to the report. 
 

 

10. Town Centre Public Spaces Protection Order   

 This report is ‘to follow’. 
 
 

 



 

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing 

11. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman's Annual 
Review Letter 2020 (Pages 97 - 108) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To receive and note the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2020. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review Letter 2020, attached at Appendix A to the report, and the 
annual summary of statistics on the decisions made about the 
Council for the year ending 31 March 2020, at Appendix B to the 
report, be noted. 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Zoom on Thursday 23 July 2020 at 
1.30 pm  

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Sheri Green   – Strategic Director (External Services) 
Sarah Martin  – Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
Alan Twyman – Democratic Services Manager 
Paul Blake      – Interim Transformation Manager 

 
127. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 
The Leader of the Council and Chairman of the Cabinet, Councillor J A Kite, 
welcomed the Cabinet and viewers watching the meeting on YouTube.  
 

128. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Brown. 
      
 

129. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

130. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD 
ON 25 JUNE 2020  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of the meeting held on 25th June  2020. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 25th June 2020 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.  
 

131. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

132. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees.  
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JULY 2020 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

133. POLICY FOR THE ACQUISITION OF PRIVATE PROPERTIES FOR 
COUNCIL HOUSING  
 
The Strategic Director (External Services) presented the Council’s proposed 
draft Policy for the Acquisition of Private Properties for Council Housing on the 
open market where the properties met certain criteria and to ensure value for 
money. The policy would link to the Council’s Right-to-Buy receipts and assist 
in the management of the Council’s 1-4-1 budget and would also complement 
and supplement the Council’s new build housing policy. The acquisition of 
private properties for use as social housing would ensure that more family 
homes would be available for allocation to the people of Dartford in 
accordance with the Council’s allocations policy  
 
In response to questions the Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed 
that the Council could acquire any private property on the market and that 
acquisition was not limited to homes previously owned by the Council, 
although these could be more financially attractive, especially if the Council 
was exercising its right of first refusal on the sale of properties acquired by 
owners under Right-to-Buy, and also were likely to be in areas where the 
Council already had housing stock, making the properties easier to manage. 
Other properties located where the Council had housing stock were also more 
convenient for the same reason.  Whilst properties so far acquired, of which 
there had been around half a dozen, had been for single tenancy it was 
possible that the Council could in future seek to buy properties for multiple 
occupancy which could assist with providing longer term accommodation for 
people that the Council had housed during the Coronavirus pandemic.  The 
acquisition of properties depended on the availability of funding and could 
also help to ensure that the Council did not have to repay money to the 
Government where it had not been able to spend it on the new build 
programme during the required period as well as improving the availability of 
affordable housing for local people. Councillors were reassured that there was 
little scope for the acquisition process to be manipulated by sellers seeking to 
return properties to the Council at an inflated profit or by abusing Right-to-Buy 
for personal gain and furthermore, that the Council would only purchase 
properties with the benefit of vacant possession. 
 
The Cabinet welcomed the opportunities to increase the provision of 
affordable housing for local people and the Council’s enlightened approach to 
meeting this objective. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That, for the reasons outlined in the report, the draft Policy for the Acquisition 
of Private Properties for Council Housing, attached at Appendix A to the 
report, be endorsed.   
 
 

134. ANNUAL REPORT FOR TENANTS AND LEASEHOLDERS 2019  
 
The Cabinet considered the Housing Annual Report for Tenants and 
Leaseholders for 2019. The report, which had been produced in consultation 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JULY 2020 

 
 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

with the Dartford Borough Tenants’ and Leaseholders’ Forum, detailed the 
Council’s achievements over the year against national housing standards and 
the targets for the coming year. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the report and commented on the strong working 
relationship between the Council and its tenants and leaseholders which had 
developed during the past decade through genuine consultation and 
democratisation of the decision making processes. He thanked the 
representatives of the Tenants & Leaseholders Forum for their hard work and 
support and expressed his appreciation of the work of the Council’s Housing 
Services Team. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the draft Housing Annual Report 2019 for tenants and leaseholders, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved. 
 

135. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2020/21  
 
The Strategic Director (Internal Services) presented a report which updated 
Members on financial performance against the 2020/21 budget to date for the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account. She advised the Cabinet 
that the Council had recently been allocated a further £203,000 by the 
Government to meet increased costs arising from the coronavirus pandemic 
bringing the total of Government funding for Dartford to £1.3M, over and 
above the £1M currently budgeted. The Government had also announced a 
scheme of support to mitigate lost income arising from the coronavirus 
measures with the Council bearing the first 5% of the loss compared to 
budget and the Government covering 75% of the remaining loss. Clarification 
had been received that this support would also apply to the cancellation of this 
years’ management fee as a result of the closure of Fairfield Leisure Centre.  
 
The Cabinet welcomed and noted the additional funding from the Government 
and thanked the Finance Department for their expertise and professionalism 
in the management of the Council’s finances. The Chairman noted that 
Dartford was better placed than the vast majority of local authorities due to its 
cautious approach to financial management and determination to maintain 
sensible levels of reserves which could now be used diligently to mitigate the 
financial pressures arising from the pandemic. 
 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That Members note the monitoring report update, attached at Appendix A to 
the report, for the year to date. 
 

136. CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING 2020/21  
 
The Strategic Director (Internal Services) presented a report which detailed 
progress to date on the schemes in the approved Capital Programme for 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JULY 2020 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

2020/21 and reported the latest position on capital resources. It was noted 
that there had been some slippage in the progress of capital projects but that 
the Government had relaxed some of the funding rules around 141 receipts to 
reflect this. 
 
The Chairman noted that works in the town centre were progressing well with 
the first phase of works in Market Street due for completion in September and 
that the new car park at Acacia Hall should be in place by the end of the year. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet note the progress made to date on the 2020/21 Capital 
Programme. 
 

137. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MINUTES - 16 JUNE 2020  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 16 June 2020. 
 
The Chairman noted that the Committee had received presentations from 
health providers relating to the new health infrastructure in place across Kent 
and in the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area arising from the creation of 
the Kent & Medway Clinical Commissioning Group from 1st April 2020. He 
welcomed the Committee’s inclusion of this item as it was important for the 
Council to ask relevant questions of health services when new delivery 
arrangements were put in place and to assess their impact for the local 
community. He reflected on the considerable development and economic 
growth in Dartford but felt that whilst Council services, and those of other 
partners such as the county council and the police continued to keep pace 
with growth, he was less certain that health services were doing so. He felt 
that it was important for strategic NHS Managers to understand the need for 
greater investment in health service provision in Dartford to reflect the growing 
local economy.    
 
The Cabinet noted that Dartford had a higher than average rate of coronavirus  
infections, possibly due to the presence of an excellent urgent care centre at 
Darent Valley Hospital drawing in patients from surrounding areas and the 
proximity to London. It was uncertain as to whether other factors such as 
smoking and poor air quality contributed to this as much was still unknown 
about the disease but it was possible that lifestyle, race and gender could all 
impact on the likelihood of infection and the severity of symptoms. The 
Chairman stressed the importance of continuing to address poor air quality in 
parts of the borough and the need to keep pressure on the Government and 
Highways England to take measures to mitigate this and to build the proposed 
new Thames crossing in Gravesham. 
 
The Chairman expressed his huge appreciation of the work carried out by 
health and care workers, and all key workers, in tackling the coronavirus 
pandemic and hoped that this might inspire local people to consider careers in 
these professions in the future  within Dartford. 
 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 JULY 2020 

 
 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 16 
June 2020 be noted. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 2.18 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 

GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON CHANGES TO THE CURRENT 
PLANNING SYSTEM 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 The Government is consulting on: changes to the standard method for assessing 
housing numbers the Government requires Local Authorities to plan for; First 
Homes; supporting small and medium sized developers by reducing the range of 
developments when affordable housing would need to be delivered; and 
extending the permission in principle consent regime.  Appendix B sets out the 
Council’s proposed responses to the consultation questions. 

2.  RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the responses to the questions, set out in Appendix B to the report, form 

the Council’s response to the Government’s Consultation on Changes to the 
Current Planning System. 

 
3.  Background and Discussion  

 
3.1. The Government has published the consultation document “Changes to 

the current planning system.”  This is included as Appendix A.  There 
are four parts to the document as follows: 

 Standard method for assessing housing numbers in strategic plans 

 Delivering First Homes 

 Supporting small and medium-sized developers by reducing the 
amount of affordable housing that they would need to deliver through 
new planning permissions for 18 months 

 Extension of the Permission in Principle consent regime 

The consultation takes the form of a series of questions and ends on 1 
October 2020.  The suggested responses to the consultation questions 
are set out in Appendix B, with the key points outlined below. 

3.2. It should be noted that the government can implement the changes 
proposed in this consultation by way of amendment to the national 
Planning Policy Guidance and they will not require legislation.  The 
changes can, therefore, be brought into effect almost immediately after 
the end of consultation period.  Whilst these changes are considered to 
be only technical, their impact on Dartford as well as on other authorities 
is likely to be very significant.   

3.3. Government is also consulting on its Planning for the Future White 
Paper.  These proposed changes involve a radical change to the existing 
planning system and received a large amount of publicity recently.  
These proposals will require primary legislation and will take a longer 
period to come into effect.  The consultation for the White Paper ends 
on 29 October 2020 and there will be a report on this at the Cabinet 
meeting on that date. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
3.4. The White Paper makes reference to possible adjustments to the 

Housing Need numbers derived through the standard methodology 
through consideration of constraints and opportunities, so as to soften 
their impact.  Whilst this will be welcome, it will be some time before 
these further changes come into effect.  In the meantime, the proposals 
set out in the technical paper could give rise to a very large number of 
planning permissions for housing in a location and form which may not 
be considered acceptable as assessed against the current Local Plan.  
This could be both as a result of the housing numbers methodology and 
the proposals for an extension to permissions in-principle.  These 
permissions may not be built out immediately but could have an adverse 
impact on the Borough for years to come.  For this reason, a strong 
response to the consultation is proposed. 

Standard method for assessing housing numbers in strategic plans 

3.5. A standard method for identifying the minimum number of homes to be 
planned for in each Borough was first introduced by the Government in 
2018.  This method identifies the target number of new homes locally, 
which Boroughs must take on board when looking at housing delivery 
and capacity in setting the final housing requirement level in the Local 
Plan although this number is not binding.  The current method has not 
been successful in achieving the government’s target for delivery of 
300,000 homes a year nationally, hence new proposals are being 
brought forward which are less flexible than the current method.  The 
current method is firstly based on household growth projections for a 10 
year period and then adjusts the baseline to take account of affordability 
in an area.  A house price to earnings ratio of four is taken as the 
affordability baseline, with levels above this requiring a proportionate 
increase in housing delivery.  Finally, it capped the level of any increase 
to 40% of the current housing need figure set out in the Local Plan. 

3.6. The Government is consulting on proposed changes to the standard 
method for calculating the annual number of homes local authorities 
need to plan for, refining the approach – principally to increase the 
national aggregate total housing target.  This will involve a three step 
approach.  It is proposing to introduce a percentage of existing housing 
stock levels into the method as an alternative to household projections, 
which is justified in order to take into account the number of homes that 
are already in an area.  It would still retain the household projections as 
it considers that these provide the most robust estimates of future growth 
trends.  The method would involve using the higher of 0.5% of existing 
housing stock in each local authority or the latest projected average 
annual household growth over a 10 year period, whichever is the higher. 

3.7. The proposal is to continue to use the house price to earnings 
affordability ratio (Step 2).  However, a further adjustment is then added 
(Step 3) taking into account how affordability has changed over the last 
10 years.  Significantly, it would also remove the cap protecting those 
areas faced with substantial disproportionate increases in the target. 

Page 8Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
3.8. The figure using the proposed new method will underpin the Council’s 

annually updated Five Year Housing Land Supply (until confirmed/ an 
alternative final local requirement is justified through the new Local 
Plan), and deliverable sites capable of meeting the figure will need to be 
identified.  Failure to demonstrate a five year supply of sites which have 
reasonable certainty of delivery will undermine the Council’s position at 
appeals for planning applications refused by the Council.  The housing 
figure will also inform the new Local Plan, work on which is well 
underway.  The level of growth over the 15 year plan period will be 
heavily determined on the basis of the new methodology, as amended 
by any cross-boundary agreements. 

3.9. Using the proposed approach, Dartford would have to plan for 1,441 
new homes per annum.  The requirement using household projections 
alone is 657 homes per annum but applying the affordability adjustment 
results in a 120% uplift.  To put the new proposed target figure for 
Dartford in context: 

 The existing adopted housing delivery figure set out in the Core 
Strategy of up to 17,300 homes over the 20 year period 2006-2026 
equates to an average of 865 homes per annum 

 The Dartford requirement under the current national standard 
method is for the provision of 797 homes per annum 

 In terms of actual past delivery, completion figures over the 5 years 
to March 2019 were high at 565, 971, 1162, 1031 and 1013 homes 
per annum respectively, resulting in an average of 948 dwellings 
per annum, a significant increase on levels in the earlier part of the 
Core Strategy plan period. (However, due to issues facing the 
national economy, the figures for the next couple of years are 
projected to be below this level).  

In light of the above, it is considered that the delivery of 1,441 new homes 
per annum in the Borough would be a sudden and substantial increase 
and wholly unrealistic to achieve. Further detailed analysis looking at 
authorities in Kent and housing delivery, existing size of stock and 
affordability is set out in the response (Appendix B questions 1 to 7). 

3.10. The proposed response very strongly objects to the proposed changes 
to the standard method, setting out a clear rationale and data 
demonstrating the Government’s proposed formula is not an effective, 
fair, or sustainable methodology from which to derive a baseline. 

3.11. At the outset there is a fundamental flaw that defining affordability based 
on local house prices and workplace earnings only is too simplistic to be 
used in determining local housing need. This narrow calculation 
penalises areas such as Dartford in a number of ways. The changes in 
an area’s affordability ratio is influenced by many factors including rising 
house prices unconnected to levels of local need. 

3.12. The proposed method is unfair in punishing those authorities that have 
delivered on their housing needs and more.  As in Dartford’s case, it 
encourages further in-migration resulting in a spiral of ever-increasing 
housing projection figures, since the projections build in past levels of in-

Page 9 Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
migration.  By contrast, those authorities that have underprovided for 
their internal housing needs export the need elsewhere.  This results in 
net outmigration and lower household projections.  By using this 
methodology these under-providing authorities are rewarded for past 
under-delivery by low housing delivery targets in the future.  Analysis of 
the data, as shown in Appendix B (Q1), demonstrates the distorted 
outcomes.  This is unacceptable when land availability, and scope for 
densification, is limited in every area – land across the country has to be 
used evenly and appropriately to the full. 

3.13. In order to meet ever-increasing targets, either unacceptable 
densification or development at unsustainable locations away from 
public transport and outside the urban areas, will need to be brought 
forward.  No account is taken in these proposals of constraints such as 
Green Belt: Local Plans are set up by government for failure in this way. 

3.14. This formula is not sustainable because it puts pressure for delivery in 
those authorities that have already delivered much housing and are not 
able to continue absorbing growth at the same high levels, even more 
so, the much higher levels which the formula generates.  In Dartford 
there is no spare infrastructure capacity.  At these rates of growth, 
infrastructure cannot be delivered fast enough to serve the growing 
population.  This is clearly contrary to Government objectives for 
infrastructure delivery to be in tandem with housing growth. 

3.15. It is not future-looking because it is based on historic trends which it is 
assumed will continue.  The changes now taking place as a result of 
Covid-19 will quite likely result in a fundamental shift as people re-
evaluate their choices, and employment and living demands.  If 
implemented, the formula may result in huge densification in London and 
the south east, potentially resulting in dense high-rise housing with no 
private outdoor space and of the type that people no longer wish to live 
in. It is also a missed opportunity in the North and Midlands to address 
the government’s ‘levelling-up’ agenda. 

3.16. The proposed response, as set out in Appendix B (Q2), instead puts 
forward a clear alternative:  the standard method should be based simply 
on 1.25% of the existing housing stock figure.  Nationally, this would: 
deliver more housing than is currently occurring and would exceed the 
government’s target of 300,000 homes per annum; achieve levelling up 
in different parts of the country; and result in a deliverable and 
achievable target for all authorities, allowing for more sustainable growth 
across the country.  This would result in a requirement of 591 dwellings 
per annum in Dartford Borough. 

Delivering First Homes 

3.17. The Government consulted on its First Homes proposals in February 
2020.  There are strong similarities with the previously proposed Starter 
Homes initiative.  First Homes are intended for first time buyers to be 
sold at a discount of at least 30% below market value and with a price 
cap of £250,000 outside London.  Local planning authorities can 
introduce local connections tests (which will apply for up to 3 months of 

Page 10Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
the dwellings going on sale) where there is evidence of the necessity 
and viability of these.  First Homes will be subject to covenants to ensure 
that the discounts are passed onto future purchases of the properties. 

3.18. As part of the current consultation on proposed changes to the planning 
system, the Government is now proposing that a minimum of 25% of all 
affordable housing should be First Homes, delivered through section 106 
planning obligations.  These will be expected to be delivered onsite 
unless offsite provision or a financial contribution in lieu can be justified.  
It puts forward options for the delivery of these.  The responses to 
questions 8-16 in Appendix B are relevant. 

3.19. The key point is that the Council would not object to First Homes 
replacing some of the provision of other types of affordable home 
ownership tenures such as shared ownership dwellings, as a mix of 
affordable tenures is sought to meet Dartford’s overall needs.  For 
developments that cannot provide affordable housing fully in line with 
policy aims, the proposed response emphasises that in these instances 
First Homes may need be foregone to meet local priorities within the mix 
of affordable housing that is to be delivered. Given that from the latest 
local evidence on the requirements of the Borough’s population there is 
an identified need for more affordable rented homes than other types of 
affordable housing, the Council would not want First Homes to replace 
the provision of affordable rented housing. 

Supporting small and medium-sized developers 

3.20. Currently, national policy includes a threshold of 10 units or 0.5ha before 
affordable housing is required to be delivered.  The Dartford Core 
Strategy uses a threshold of 15 units or 0.5ha for the provision of 
affordable housing in the urban area. 

3.21. To support small and medium-sized businesses (SMEs) in the medium 
term during economic recovery from Covid-19, the Government is 
proposing to raise the threshold to 40 or 50 homes before sites are 
required to provide affordable homes on planning applications submitted 
for an initial period of 18 months, to be monitored and reviewed. 

3.22. The proposed responses to questions 17-23 in Appendix B are relevant.  
There are concerns that the proposal would adversely impact on the 
Council’s ability to deliver affordable housing in Dartford, a Borough 
where there is a lack of affordable housing for local people.  Where the 
provision of affordable housing could impact on the delivery of 
development, viability testing already takes place and the outcomes 
have an impact on the type and amount of affordable housing that is 
provided.  Furthermore, we are concerned that this could become a 
permanent change to planning policy, with consequent impacts on the 
provision of affordable dwellings in Dartford.  In addition, there is no 
clarity that this would support recovery as such developments, if only 
now starting the planning process, are not likely to be ready for 
construction on site for a couple of years.  There is a real risk that 
developers will rush to submit poorly prepared planning applications in 

Page 11 Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
order to benefit from this relaxation of policy and then bank the planning 
permission. 

Extension of the permission in principle consent regime 

3.23. Permission in principle is a recently introduced alternative way 
developers can gain consent for their development proposal.  It is 
currently restricted, mostly to small developments of less than ten 
homes.  No developments have been implemented via this method in 
Dartford yet.  

3.24. Permission in Principle is designed to speed up and simplify decision 
making on in principle issues for housing-led development (at least as 
much as an outline planning application is meant to).  The aim is to give 
up-front certainty that the fundamental principles of development are 
acceptable before developers need to work up detailed plans and 
commission technical studies.  The in principle application separates 
addressing (only) basic land use, location, and scale of development 
(first stage) from dealing later with matters of technical detail, such as 
the design of buildings, tenure mix, transport and environmental matters 
(second stage consent).  A grant of permission in principle plus a grant 
of technical details consent together is intended to equate to full planning 
permission.  Such applications are required to be determined in 5 weeks. 

3.25. The Government is proposing to extend permission in principle to allow 
developers to apply for major housing-led development (which can also 
include commercial development) which does not require Environmental 
Impact Assessment or Habitats Regulations Assessment.  No details 
need to be provided with the application other than a red line and the 
indicative number of dwellings. It is proposed to retain the existing 5 
week determination period and the 14 day period for consultation with 
the public and statutory consultees but it seeks views on information 
requirements, publicity arrangements, fees and guidance.  The Council’s 
proposed concerns are set out in the answers to questions 24 to 34. 

3.26. The consultation suggests that developers could use the permission in 
principle regime to gain in principle permission for redevelopment of 
town centre sites.  The Council has to issue a decision setting out 
minimum and maximum dwellings numbers.  However, with no details of 
layout, height or information on constraints it would be very difficult for 
planning officers to determine accurately the maximum number of 
dwellings that could be provided on site in a manner that provides good 
quality accommodation and does not impact on neighbouring occupiers.  
This could lead to developments which are granted permission in 
principle where there will then be pressure to allow higher buildings than 
may otherwise be appropriate under the second stage technical details 
consent. 

4.  Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
4.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan includes a number of relevant strategic 

aims: 

Page 12Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 

 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of 
benefit to all of our communities 

 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, 
assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users 

 To create strong and self-reliant communities 
 

5.  Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments 
 

Financial Implications The changes to the affordable housing thresholds 
and developments for which permission in principle 
could be applied for could result in a reduction in 
developer contributions for affordable housing.  The 
extension of permissions in principle could result in 
a reduction in fees from planning applications. 

Legal Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.  

Staffing Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.  

Administrative 
Implications 

No implications of responding to the consultation.  

Risk Assessment No further uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 

Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Changes to the current planning system, MHCLG August 
2020 
Appendix B – Proposed Responses to Consultation Questions 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 

 Changes to the current planning 
system, MHCLG August 2020 

Andrea Wright 
(01322) 343060 

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration  

N/A 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



August 2020 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

Changes to the current planning system 

Consultation on changes to planning policy and regulations 

                      Appendix APage 15 Agenda Item 7



   
 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2020 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

August 2020 

 

Page 16Agenda Item 7

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


   
 

3 

Contents 

Scope of the consultation 5 

Introduction 7 

The standard method for assessing housing numbers in strategic plans 8 

Boosting Supply 8 

The role of the standard method in strategic plans 9 

The current standard method for assessing local housing need 10 

The Government’s proposed approach 11 

Result of the revised standard method 16 

Transition 16 

Next steps 18 

Delivering First Homes 19 

The Government’s proposed approach 19 

Exception sites 23 

Next steps 24 

Supporting small and medium-sized developers 25 

Developer contributions 26 

Economic recovery 26 

The Government’s proposed approach 27 

Affordable housing in rural areas 28 

Supporting SMEs 28 

Next steps 28 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



   
 

4 

Extension of the Permission in Principle consent regime 29 

Introduction of applications process for major developments 29 

Securing the principle of development for housing on more sites 29 

Extending Permission in Principle to cover major development 30 

Process for making a Permission in Principle application for major development 32 

Information requirements 32 

Publicity arrangements 33 

Revised fee structure to incentive Permission in Principle by application 34 

Brownfield Land Registers and Permission in Principle 34 

Additional guidance to support implementation 35 

Regulatory Impact Assessment 36 

Next steps 36 

Public Sector Equality Duty 37 

About this consultation 38 

Annex A 39 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18Agenda Item 7



   
 

5 

Scope of the consultation 

Topic of this 
consultation: 

This consultation seeks views on a range of proposed changes 
to the current planning system including:  

• changes to the standard method for assessing local 
housing need 

• securing of First Homes through developer contributions 

• temporarily lifting the small sites threshold  

• extending the current Permission in Principle to major 
development 

 

Scope of this 
consultation: 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government is 
consulting on changes to planning policy and legislation. 
 

Geographical 
scope: 

These proposals relate to England only. 
 

Impact 
Assessment: 

 
N/A 

 

Basic Information 
 

To: This consultation is open to everyone. We are keen to hear 
from a wide range of interested parties from across the public 
and private sectors, as well as from the general public. 

Body/bodies 
responsible for 
the consultation: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

Duration: This consultation will last for 8 weeks from 06 August 2020 and 
will close at 23.45 on Thursday 1st October 2020. 

Enquiries: For any enquiries about the consultation please contact:  
 
TechnicalPlanningConsultation@communities.gov.uk  
 
 

How to respond: You may respond by going to our website: 
 
www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-
planning-system  
 
Alternatively you can email your response to the questions in 
this consultation to:  
 
TechnicalPlanningConsultation@communities.gov.uk 
 
If you are responding in writing, please make it clear which 
questions you are responding to. 
 

Page 19 Agenda Item 7

mailto:TechnicalPlanningConsultation@communities.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system
mailto:TechnicalPlanningConsultation@communities.gov.uk


   
 

6 

Written responses should be sent to: 
Changes to the current planning system consultation 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 
3rd Floor, South East Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
LONDON  
SW1P 4DF 
 
When you reply it would be very useful if you confirm whether 
you are replying as an individual or submitting an official 
response on behalf of an organisation and include: 
- your name, 
- your position (if applicable), and 
- the name of organisation (if applicable). 
 

Page 20Agenda Item 7



   
 

7 

Introduction 

1. Since 2010 the Government has introduced planning reforms to improve the current 
system. In 2010 only 17% of local authorities had local plans in place and now 91% 
of local authorities have plans. Over 2,700 groups have started the neighbourhood 
planning process since 2012. We’ve delivered over 1.5 million new homes since 
2010 including over 241,000 last year alone – that’s the highest level for over  
30 years. And planning permissions for new homes have more than doubled since 
2010. But this isn’t enough – we want to deliver the housing people need because 
happier, more rooted communities bring our country together.  
 

2. Planning for the Future1 sets out plans to undertake a fundamental reform of the 
planning system and explains that this would be accompanied by shorter-term 
measures. This consultation sets out proposals for measures to improve the 
effectiveness of the current system. The four main proposals are:  

 

• changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need, which as well as 
being a proposal to change guidance in the short term has relevance to proposals 
for land supply reforms set out in Planning for the Future; 
 

• securing of First Homes, sold at a discount to market price for first time buyers, 
including key workers, through developer contributions in the short term until the 
transition to a new system; 
 

• temporarily lifting the small sites threshold below which developers do not need to 
contribute to affordable housing, to up to 40 or 50 units to support SME builders as 
the economy recovers from the impact of Covid-19; 

 

• extending the current Permission in Principle to major development so landowners 

and developers now have a fast route to secure the principle of development for 

housing on sites without having to work up detailed plans first. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
1 See Planning for the Future https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future 

 
  

Page 21 Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future


   
 

8 

The standard method for assessing housing 
numbers in strategic plans 

3. This consultation is seeking views on changes to planning practice guidance on the 

standard method for assessing local housing need (“the standard method”). The 

standard method provides the starting point for planning for housing and does not 

establish the housing requirement. 

 

4. The standard method was first implemented in 2018 through the revised National 

Planning Policy Framework2 to make assessing the minimum number of homes 

needed in an area easier, cheaper and more transparent. In February 2019, 

following the technical consultation on updates to national planning policy and 

guidance, a short-term change was made to the standard method. At the same 

time, a commitment was made to review the formula to balance the need for clarity, 

simplicity and transparency for local communities with the Government’s aspirations 

for the housing market. 

 
5. This part of the consultation is about the standard method for assessing local 

housing need. There are wider policy proposals for introducing a standard method 

for setting binding housing requirements, set out in the separate consultation 

Planning for the Future3. It is the Government’s intention that the method set out in 

this document would form part of the process for setting any binding housing 

requirement. However, this consultation does not set out how this binding 

requirement would be calculated, which will be determined following the Planning 

for the Future consultation. Instead, it proposes a revised standard method for 

calculating local housing need which will be used as the basis for plans created 

prior to any changes outlined in Planning for the Future being introduced.  

Boosting Supply 

6. This consultation should be read in the context of the wider government reforms 

Planning for the Future in relation to the planning system and in particular the 

reforms to ensure sufficient land is released for homes. As this sets out, our 

aspirations are to create a housing market that is capable of delivering 300,000 

homes annually and one million homes over this Parliament. Adopted local plans, 

where they are in place, provide for 187,000 homes per year across England – not 

just significantly below our ambition for 300,000 new homes annually, but also lower 

than the number of homes delivered last year (241,000). 

 

 
 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
3 See the wider reform policy paper Proposal 4 within Planning for the Future. 

Page 22Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


   
 

9 

The role of the standard method in strategic plans 

7. Plans are a key vehicle for ensuring that the community gets its chance to shape 

the development that takes place in its area. The standard method identifies the 

minimum number of homes that a local authority should plan for in an area. The 

National Planning Policy Framework is clear that this number should be considered 

in making sure enough land is identified to accommodate the new homes our 

communities need. Once the quantity of homes has been identified by the standard 

method, the supporting policy encourages local authorities to then consider how 

these can best be accommodated – through a combination of intensification and 

densification of brownfield land, regeneration of former commercial sites and under-

used sites such as car parks, through well-planned new settlements and urban 

expansions. 

 

8. The National Planning Policy Framework and associated planning practice 

guidance4 set out that local areas should identify enough land by using the housing 

need reflected by the standard method to:  

 

a. identify the minimum number of homes that their communities need;  

b. consider whether local circumstances mean that actual need is higher than 

that minimum (because, for example, strategic infrastructure is expected or 

growth beyond past trends is anticipated);   

c. seek as a minimum to meet those needs by ensuring that sufficient land can 

be released over at least the next 15 years. 

 

9. By directing that sufficient land should be released as above, the amount of need 

identified by the standard method has a direct influence on how many homes will be 

built in the future. It does not ensure that the homes are actually built - that is reliant 

on wider market conditions and targeted government interventions to support the 

market. However, identifying sufficient land so that the market is not prevented from 

delivering the homes that are needed is vitally important to prevent the under-

delivery of the past from continuing to happen.  

 

10. The overall level of need identified by the standard method therefore needs to be 

sufficient to ensure that land supply does not become a limiter in achieving national 

supply aspirations. 

 

 

 

 
 
4 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments 

Page 23 Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


   
 

10 

The current standard method for assessing local housing 
need 

11. The Government introduced the standard method to make the process of identifying 
the level of need in an area simple, quick and transparent. Previously, local 
authorities spent time and money estimating need and these numbers were heavily 
contested at examination. The standard method is designed to cut this time and 
ensure that the plan-making process focuses on how and where the homes can 
best be built, how they can be best designed and how the infrastructure can be 
aligned rather than time-consuming debates about the number of homes. The 
Government is clear that the standard method has an important role in achieving 
these ends and that it should continue to be: an easy and transparent process for 
people to understand; based on publicly available data; and reflect the need for 
homes in an area by taking in account the affordability of homes locally. 
 

12. Currently, the method comprises a baseline of household projections which are 
then adjusted to take account of affordability and capped to limit the increase for 
areas. Step 1 of the current method sets the baseline using a 10-year average of 
the 2014-based national household growth projections. Step 2 goes on to adjust the 
Step 1 outcome based on the affordability of the area, using the most recent 
median workplace-based affordability ratios so that for each 1% the ratio is above 4, 
the average household growth is increased by a quarter of a percent (with a ratio of 
8 representing a 100% increase). Step 3 then applies a 40% cap to limit the 
increases an individual local authority can face. The way this cap is applied 
depends on the current status of an area’s strategic policies for housing.  

 
13. Household projections, used in the current method, have attracted criticism for their 

volatility and the way in which they can result in artificially low projections in some 

places, where overcrowding and concealed households suppress the numbers. 

Crucially, they cannot in isolation forecast housing need – they project past trends 

forward. Despite this, we have seen many progress arguments that recent 

reductions in projected growth should lead to less homes being built. This should 

not be the logical conclusion, as the Office for National Statistics (ONS) has 

clarified5& 6.   

 
14. Improvements on the standard method are designed in order to: 

a. Ensure it is more agile in using up-to-date data. We announced in the 

February 2019 Government response to the technical consultation on 

updates to national planning policy and guidance7, that the standard method 

would remain based on the 2014-based household projections. While this 

 
 
5  https://blog.ons.gov.uk/2018/10/19/what-our-household-projections-really-show/ 

 
6 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/article
s/varianthouseholdprojectionsforengland/2016based#things-you-need-to-know-about-this-release 

 
7 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-
standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need 

Page 24Agenda Item 7

https://blog.ons.gov.uk/2018/10/19/what-our-household-projections-really-show/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need


   
 

11 

was an appropriate solution in the short-term, a new standard method is 

intended to be more agile in using the most recent data. 

b. Achieve a better distribution of homes where homes are identified in more 

high-demand areas and in emerging demand areas across the country (such 

as the Northern Powerhouse). This will help avoid issues where unaffordable 

areas in high demand are planning for low numbers of homes due to past 

trends of suppressed household formation. In addition, the Government has 

heard powerful representations that the current formula underestimates 

demand for housing in the growing cities in the Northern Powerhouse by 

being based on historic trends. 

c. Provide stability to the method by smoothing out areas of potential volatility 

so that the basis on which local authorities are expected to plan for is more 

predictable.   

d. Be consistent with the Government’s ambition for a housing market that 

supports 300,000 homes by creating a method with a suitable overall 

national number that enables achievement of this aim.  

 

15. The Government has welcomed contributions from experts, including Savills8 and 

Lichfields9, on helpful proposals on how to adjust the methodology to address better 

these issues of alignment with real demand, stability, and consistency with the 

overall 300,000 target. There is general support for incorporating housing stock into 

the methodology, as a way of balancing out some of the issues identified with 

relying on household projections in isolation. We have taken into consideration the 

varied and useful feedback, both on the individual data inputs and also on how 

these might be applied in informing options for consideration.  

 

16. In line with our commitments10, we are now proposing a revised standard method 

which aligns with the Government’s aspirations for the housing market. This should 

provide stability and certainty for all stakeholders and seek to address the issues 

with the current approach and use of household projections identified above.  

 

The Government’s proposed approach 

17. The Government has based the proposed new approach on a number of principles 

for reform. These include ensuring that the new standard method delivers a number 

nationally that is consistent with the commitment to plan for the delivery of 300,000 

new homes a year, a focus on achieving a more appropriate distribution of homes, 

and on targeting more homes into areas where they are least affordable.  

 

18. The standard method results in a local authority-wide number that needs to be 

planned for. The local area then decides how and where in their authority that need 

is best met in accordance with national policy. The supporting policy is not the 

 
 
8 https://pdf.euro.savills.co.uk/uk/spotlight-on/housing-need-and-the-standard-method-may-2020.pdf 
9 https://lichfields.uk/blog/2020/may/21/setting-the-standard-towards-a-new-method-for-housing-need/ 
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-for-the-future 

Page 25 Agenda Item 7

https://pdf.euro.savills.co.uk/uk/spotlight-on/housing-need-and-the-standard-method-may-2020.pdf
https://lichfields.uk/blog/2020/may/21/setting-the-standard-towards-a-new-method-for-housing-need/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-for-the-future


   
 

12 

subject of this consultation, but wider reforms proposed in the Planning for the 

Future consultation are focusing on how land supply policies would operate going 

forward. As such, this standard method provides the starting point and not the final 

housing requirement. 

 
19. The new standard method should ensure that all areas of the country are 

encouraged to build the homes their communities need. The reasons for which 

homes are needed varies in different areas of the country. In some areas, new 

homes can play a vital role in schemes to regenerate deprived areas. In others the 

existing stock doesn’t meet the needs of the existing communities in terms of 

providing the right size, type and tenure for different groups within the community 

and new homes are required to address this.  

 
20. We therefore propose to introduce a new element into the standard method, a 

percentage of existing housing stock levels, which takes into account the number of 

homes that are already in an area. This should ensure that diverse housing needs 

in all parts of the country are taken into account. It should also offer the stability and 

predictability which has been absent when solely relying on household projections.  

 

21. However, household projections, which are based on freely and publicly accessible 

data available at a local authority level, are still the most robust estimates of future 

growth trends. Projections have been used for decades in the planning system as a 

basis for future housing land requirements due to their simple and relatable concept 

of linking housing growth to the population. Therefore, we propose to retain a role 

for them as part of the new blended approach which takes account of stock. This 

helps achieve the stability and distributional benefits offered by stock whilst not 

losing the benefits of using projections. Further details of the exact approach are set 

out below. 

 

22. The Government also proposes to introduce an affordability adjustment that takes 

into account changes over time, in addition to the existing approach of considering 

absolute affordability. This will increase the overall emphasis on affordability in the 

formula and ensure that the revised standard method is more responsive to 

changing local circumstances, so that homes are planned for where they are least 

affordable. For example, where affordability improves, this will be reflected by lower 

need for housing being identified. The Government also proposes to remove the 

cap which artificially suppresses the level of housing identified. 

 
Step 1  
Setting the baseline – providing stability and certainty by incorporating a 
blend of household projections and stock 

23. We consider that the baseline for the standard method should be whichever is 

the higher of 0.5% of existing housing stock in each local authority OR the 

latest projected average annual household growth over a 10-year period.  

Page 26Agenda Item 7



   
 

13 

 

24. Recognising the limitations of household projections for the purposes of identifying 

housing need, the Government considers that they continue to remain the best way 

of projecting forward likely trends in household formation. Household projections 

therefore continue to form a part of the baseline, but will act as a “top-up” to a basic 

percentage of existing stock in each area. This allows areas that experience 

significant increases in projections compared to existing stock to plan for the homes 

they may need as a result of recent trends. This results in a “higher of” approach.  

 
25. Focusing the new standard method baseline on stock with a household projections 

“top-up” helps bring stability to the method. This is because stock is stable and does 

not vary significantly, unlike a household projections-only approach. It is based on 

current data, and is also a tangible and easily understandable concept. Using stock 

will ensure that all areas, as a minimum, are contributing a share of the national 

total, proportionate to the size of their current housing market. Basing the approach 

on stock also helps to reinforce development in existing urban areas, thereby 

ensuring that new homes can maximise existing infrastructure such as public 

transport, schools, medical facilities and shops.  

 

26. We propose a simple 0.5% of existing stock as a starting point for the baseline. The 

most robust data source of stock levels is the annually published Dwelling stock 

estimates by local authority districts11 and the most recent data published at 

the time should be used. The number of net additional dwellings delivered in 

2018-19 represents an increase of approximately 1% on the previous dwelling stock 

estimate of 24.2 million dwellings in England as at March 2018. 0.5% represents a 

basic level of increase in all areas without putting a disproportionate emphasis on 

existing stock levels.  

 

27. The household projections element of the baseline will use the latest ONS 

national household growth projections12 for the local authority area (Principal 

projection, table 406). The projected average annual household growth over a 

10-year period (10 consecutive years, with the current year being used as the 

starting point from which to calculate growth over that period) will be used. 

 

28. Whichever is higher of 0.5% of existing stock or the projected average annual 

household growth over a 10-year period will be used as the baseline. Note the 

overall outcome of the baseline should not be considered in isolation, as it forms 

proportionately less of the overall need number than the current standard method 

does. This is because the revised formula puts a greater weighting on market 

signals in Step 2. 

 

 
 
11 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dwelling-stock-including-vacants (Table 125) 
12 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datas
ets/householdprojectionsforengland 

Page 27 Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/householdprojectionsforengland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/householdprojectionsforengland


   
 

14 

Q1: Do you agree that planning practice guidance should be amended to specify 
that the appropriate baseline for the standard method is whichever is the higher of 
the level of 0.5% of housing stock in each local authority area OR the latest 
household projections averaged over a 10-year period? 
 
Q2: In the stock element of the baseline, do you agree that 0.5% of existing stock for 
the standard method is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 

Step 2 
Adjusting for market signals – maintaining price signals using the current 
affordability ratio and the change in affordability over the last 10 years 

29. We propose the standard method will include two adjustments to the baseline using 

the workplace-based median house price to median earnings ratio13. Initially it 

is proposed that the ratio for the most recent year for which data is available in 

order to address current affordability of homes would be used. Then how 

affordability has changed over the last 10 years of published data would be 

incorporated, using that same statistic.  

 

30. The precise formula is as follows: 

 

𝐴𝑑𝑗𝑢𝑠𝑡𝑚𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐹𝑎𝑐𝑡𝑜𝑟

= [((
𝐿𝑜𝑐𝑎𝑙 𝑎𝑓𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑑𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑦 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜

𝑡=0
 −  4

4
 ) 𝑥 0.25)

+ ((𝐿𝑜𝑐𝑎𝑙 𝑎𝑓𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑑𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑦 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜
𝑡=0

− 𝐿𝑜𝑐𝑎𝑙 𝑎𝑓𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑑𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑦 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜
𝑡=−10

) × 0.25)]

+ 1 
Where 𝑡 = 0 is current year and 𝑡 = −10 is 10 years back.  

 

31. The Government considers that price signals, in the form of an affordability 

adjustment, are an integral part of the standard method. High house prices indicate 

a relative imbalance between the supply and demand for new homes, making 

homes less affordable. The affordability of homes is the best evidence that supply is 

not keeping up with demand.  

 

32. The workplace-based median house price to median earnings ratio is a nationally 

recognised and robust publicly available national statistic. It reflects the relationship 

between local house prices and earnings and is relatively stable over time. Using a 

ratio based on house price aligns with Government aspirations about home 

ownership and importantly it ensures that the standard method is responsive and 

 
 
13 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebase
dearningslowerquartileandmedian 

Page 28Agenda Item 7

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebasedearningslowerquartileandmedian
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebasedearningslowerquartileandmedian


   
 

15 

targeted to where affordability issues are most acute. Consideration has been given 

to the relative merits of the house price to workplace-based earnings ratio against 

the house price to residence-based earnings ratio. The workplace-based ratio (used 

in the current standard method) is felt to be most appropriate.  

 

33. Using the most recent ratio enables an assessment of current affordability in an 

area. This ensures the formula responds to the most recent data. Incorporating an 

affordability trend over a 10-year period enables an assessment of the direction of 

travel in an authority area. Where affordability improves, a proportionately lower 

need level will be established. However, if an area’s affordability worsens, then the 

housing need identified will be proportionately higher.  

 

34. The affordability adjustment is a two part method aimed to deliver greater overall 
emphasis on affordability than in the current standard method. It is also designed to 
factor affordability changes over a 10-year period. 

  
35. Part one of the affordability adjustment follows a similar method to that used in the 

current standard method. For each 1% the ratio is above 4, the baseline is 
increased by a quarter of a percent. Current guidance states that no adjustment is 
applied where the ratio is 4 or below. However, now that stock helps to stabilise the 
baseline, the affordability element of the new standard method can be responsive in 
areas where affordability is below 4 and we propose to amend guidance to this 
effect.  
 

36. The formula now allows for downwards adjustments, where for each 1% the ratio is 
below 4, the baseline is decreased by a quarter of a percent. This means that these 
areas would not experience an uplift on the baseline as a result of this element of 
the formula. Four is the threshold as four times a person’s earnings14 is the 
maximum amount that can typically be borrowed for a mortgage - if an average 
worker cannot get a mortgage for an average home in the area without additional 
help then there are not enough homes in the area.  

 
37. Part two of the affordability adjustment focuses on the absolute difference between 

the latest affordability ratio and the affordability ratio 10 years ago. The difference 
calculated is multiplied by a factor of 0.25. This emphasis puts more pressure on 
local authorities whose affordability ratio has increased over the 10-year time frame, 
but likewise allows for local authorities whose ratio has improved to benefit from 
reductions in their affordability adjustment. 

 
38. The affordability adjustment in part one and part two are added together (with a 

constant of 1), to reach a total affordability factor which is subsequently applied to 
the baseline. The combined effect is an increased responsiveness to affordability, 
reflecting the importance that the Government attaches to this. 

 

 
 
14 The Council Mortgage Lenders found that in 2015 the average first time buyer loan to income ratio in 
England was 3.61. 

Page 29 Agenda Item 7



   
 

16 

39. Unlike the previous method, the new standard method does not have a cap applied 

to limit the level of increase for individual authorities. The Government is clear that 

in order to significantly boost the supply of homes and address the past under-

supply as quickly as possible, a step change is needed. Capping the level of need 

is not compatible with this aim. In no longer applying a cap, the resultant housing 

need is the level of need that authorities should be planning to release land for, 

according to their specific circumstances. 

 
Q3: Do you agree that using the workplace-based median house price to median 
earnings ratio from the most recent year for which data is available to adjust the 
standard method’s baseline is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 
Q4: Do you agree that incorporating an adjustment for the change of affordability 
over 10 years is a positive way to look at whether affordability has improved? If not, 
please explain why. 
 
Q5: Do you agree that affordability is given an appropriate weighting within the 
standard method? If not, please explain why. 
 

Result of the revised standard method 

40. The new standard method results in a national housing need of 337,000 on the 

basis of currently available data. This is the starting point for planning and not the 

final housing requirement. Not all homes that are planned for are built, therefore the 

new standard method total is designed to provide enough land to account for the 

drop-off rate between permissions and completions.  

 

41. The revised method identifies 76% of local housing need nationally focused in local 

authorities classified as urban (10,000 people of more in a built-up area – i.e. major 

and minor conurbations, cities and towns and towns in a sparse setting) by the 

2011 ONS classification15. This will make the most of our transport hubs, support 

the objectives of brownfield-first and gently densifying urban areas, including 

building upwards where appropriate.   

 

42. At a local authority level, the revised method will affect individual authorities 

differently. 141 authorities (excluding London boroughs) have a change of over 25% 

when compared to the higher of what areas have most recently planned for or the 

number produced by the current standard method. 

Transition 

43. The Government is aware that any change in the standard method will have an 

impact for plans that are currently under development, as authorities expend 

 
 
15 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurb
anclassification 

Page 30Agenda Item 7

https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurbanclassification
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurbanclassification


   
 

17 

considerable resources in developing new plans. To enable an orderly transition to 

the revised standard method, and achieve as much short-term supply as possible 

while setting the right expectations for early stage plan-making, we propose that 

from the publication date of the revised guidance, authorities which are 

already at the second stage of the strategic plan consultation process 

(Regulation 19)16 are given 6 months to submit17 their plan to the Planning 

Inspectorate for examination. Authorities close to publishing their second 

stage consultation (Regulation 19)18, should be given 3 months from the 

publication date of the revised guidance to publish their Regulation 19 plan 

and a further 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate. This 

is to strike a balance between allowing an appropriate transition period for plans 

that are nearly through the process, but without causing a significant delay in 

planning for a higher level of need.  

 

Do you agree that authorities should be planning having regard to their revised 
standard method need figure, from the publication date of the revised guidance, 
with the exception of:  
 
Q6: Authorities which are already at the second stage of the strategic plan 
consultation process (Regulation 19), which should be given 6 months to submit 
their plan to the Planning Inspectorate for examination? 
 
Q7: Authorities close to publishing their second stage consultation (Regulation 19), 
which should be given 3 months from the publication date of the revised guidance 
to publish their Regulation 19 plan, and a further 6 months to submit their plan to 
the Planning Inspectorate?  
 

If not, please explain why. Are there particular circumstances which need to be 

catered for? 

 

Please see question 35 for any comments relating to the Public Sector Equality Duty and 
the standard method.  

 

 

 

 

 
 
16 For Spatial Development Strategies this would refer to consultation under s335(2) of the Greater London 
Authority Act 1999 
17 For spatial development strategies, ‘submission’ in this context means the point at which the Mayor sends 
to the Panel copies of all representations made in accordance with regulation 8(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning (London Spatial Development Strategy) Regulations 2000, or equivalent. 
18 See footnote 17 above  

Page 31 Agenda Item 7



   
 

18 

Next steps 

44. Following the outcome of this consultation, the Government will update the planning 

practice guidance with the revised standard method for assessing local housing 

need.  

Page 32Agenda Item 7



   
 

19 

Delivering First Homes  

45. This Government is committed to supporting people to make the dream of home 
ownership a reality. Over 644,000 households have now been helped by Government 
schemes, including Help to Buy and Right to Buy, and we are taking steps to ramp up 
the supply of new housing. We are undertaking the most radical reforms to our 
planning system since the Second World War, making it easier to build homes where 
they are most needed. Our £400m Brownfield Land Fund and Home Builders Fund will 
support the levelling up of home building across the country and our stamp duty 
holiday, applying to the first £500,000 of property sales, will give a much-needed boost 
to the economy, helping even more people to own homes of their own.   
 

46. However, ensuring access to home ownership remains one of the greatest challenges 
for this Government. Although polling shows that 87% of people would prefer to own a 
home given a free choice, high prices, high deposits and difficulty accessing mortgage 
finance still mean that far too many people are denied this opportunity. This is why we 
are determined to ensure that First Homes are built in all parts of the country. 
 

47. The Government consulted on its First Homes proposals in February 202019. This 
included consultation around both the design of the First Homes scheme and changes 
to the planning system to support its delivery. The Government has published a 
response to this consultation20 and is now seeking views on the detail of the proposed 
changes to the current planning system.  

 

The Government’s proposed approach 

Setting developer contributions for First Homes 

Percentage of affordable housing secured through developer contributions 

48. The Government intends to set out in policy that a minimum of 25 per cent of all 

affordable housing units secured through developer contributions should be First 

Homes. This will be a national threshold, set out in planning policy. Initially these 

will be secured through section 106 planning obligations but, under proposed 

reforms, these would subsequently be secured through the Infrastructure Levy (see 

Pillar Three of Planning for the Future).  

49. In accordance with paragraph 62 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 

affordable housing is expected to be delivered onsite unless offsite provision or a 

financial contribution in lieu can be justified. Currently, around four per cent of 

 
 
19 First Homes: Consultation on the design and delivery of First Homes. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/Fi
rst_Homes_consultation_document.pdf 
20 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/first-homes 
 

Page 33 Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/First_Homes_consultation_document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/First_Homes_consultation_document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/first-homes


   
 

20 

affordable housing contributions are secured as cash or land contributions, rather 

than as onsite affordable housing. Therefore, in the majority of cases we would 

expect this policy to be delivered onsite. However, where cash contributions to 

affordable housing are secured instead of onsite contributions, a minimum of 25 per 

cent of these should be used to secure First Homes. This could be achieved, for 

instance, by acquiring additional First Homes from market development, paying the 

developer a sum to offset the discount from market price, and securing the tenure 

through section 106 planning obligations. Where a mixture of cash and onsite 

contributions are secured, 25% of the overall value of contributions should be 

applied to First Homes. 

50. Local authorities should already have affordable housing policies set out in their 
local plan, which will include the amounts of affordable housing to be sought, and 
the tenure mix of this housing. The National Planning Policy Framework currently 
states that where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from 
development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be 
viable. Under our intended approach, therefore, it is necessary to define the criteria 
for policy compliance, under which a development is assumed to be viable. 

51. The Government proposes that, under the new system, a policy compliant planning 
application should seek to capture the same amount of value as would be captured 
under the local authority’s up-to-date published policy. For instance, a local policy 
may require 20% affordable housing on site, half of which is shared ownership, and 
half of which is social rent. The plan viability assessment will set out assumptions 
on the amount of value captured – for example, a social rent home may be 
discounted by 50% from market price, and a shared ownership home may be 
discounted by 20%. This allows the total value captured under the policy to be 
calculated. This value can then be reallocated to a different affordable housing mix 
under the new policy.  

52. In addition to capturing the same amount of value towards affordable housing as 
the existing policy, where onsite affordable housing is required, a policy compliant 
application will have a minimum of 25% of affordable housing units onsite as First 
Homes. For the remaining 75% of affordable housing secured through developer 
contributions, there are two broad options: 

• Option 1: Where a local authority has a policy on affordable housing tenure 

mix, that policy should be followed, but with First Homes delivering a 

minimum of 25% of the affordable housing products. First Homes should 

replace as a priority other affordable home-ownership products, as defined in 

the National Planning Policy Framework, prioritising the replacement of those 

tenures which secure the smallest discount from market price.  

i. Where this replaces all home ownership products, any rental products 

are then delivered in the same ratio as set out in the local plan policy. 

For instance, if a local plan policy requires an affordable housing mix 

of 20% shared ownership units, 40% affordable rent units and 40% 

social rent units, a compliant application would deliver an affordable 

Page 34Agenda Item 7



   
 

21 

housing tenure mix of 25% First Homes; 37.5% affordable rent and 

37.5% social rent.21  

ii. Where this does not replace all home ownership products, the 

remainder of the home ownership tenures are delivered, and the 

rental tenure mix is delivered in line with the proportions set out in the 

local authority plan policy. For instance, if a local plan policy requires 

80% of units to be shared ownership and 20% to be social rent, a 

policy compliant application would deliver 25% First Homes units, 

55% shared ownership and 20% social rent. 

• Option 2: A local authority and developer can negotiate the tenure mix for 

the remaining 75% of units. 

53. If a local authority has an up-to-date policy on cash contributions in lieu of onsite 

contributions, then a policy compliant application will align with this approach.  

54. Option 1 would provide more early clarity for developers as to what constituted a 

policy compliant development, and would reduce negotiation, which can slow the 

development process. Option 2 would give local authorities more flexibility but 

would increase delay. For that reason, the Government prefers Option 1. 

55. Currently, sites or proposed developments such as those that provide solely for 

Build to Rent homes are exempt from requirements to deliver affordable home 

ownership products. This is set out in paragraph 64 in the National Planning Policy 

Framework. In line with existing policy, we are considering how to implement these 

exemptions with regards to First Homes. 

Q8: The Government is proposing policy compliant planning applications will 
deliver a minimum of 25% of onsite affordable housing as First Homes, and a 
minimum of 25% of offsite contributions towards First Homes where appropriate. 
Which do you think is the most appropriate option for the remaining 75% of 
affordable housing secured through developer contributions? Please provide 
reasons and / or evidence for your views (if possible): 

i) Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, and 
delivering rental tenures in the ratio set out in the local plan policy. 

ii) Negotiation between a local authority and developer.  

iii) Other (please specify) 

 

 
 
21 The actual number of homes of any tenure type should be rounded to whole numbers, where the ratio 
would deliver, for instance, half an affordable home. 

Page 35 Agenda Item 7



   
 

22 

With regards to current exemptions from delivery of affordable home ownership 
products: 

Q9: Should the existing exemptions from the requirement for affordable home 
ownership products (e.g. for build to rent) also apply to apply to this First Homes 
requirement? 

Q10: Are any existing exemptions not required? If not, please set out which 
exemptions and why. 

Q11: Are any other exemptions needed? If so, please provide reasons and /or 
evidence for your views. 

 

Local plans and transitional arrangements 

56. We recognise that local authorities may need to review the tenure mix for the 
remainder of the affordable housing that they are seeking to secure. Where local 
authorities choose to update their tenure mix to reflect this policy, they can do this 
through a local plan review, although we believe that prioritising the replacement of 
home-ownership tenures by First Homes will reduce the need for this. 

57. We also recognise that there will be a number of local plans and neighbourhood 
plans that have been prepared based on the existing National Planning Policy 
Framework and that have reached more advanced stages of the plan-making 
process. Therefore, local plans and neighbourhood plans that are submitted for 
Examination within 6 months of this new policy being enacted will not need to reflect 
the First Homes policy requirements.  

58. We also recognise that many developers will have been preparing planning 
applications under different assumptions. Where significant work has already been 
undertaken to progress a planning application, including where there has been 
significant pre-engagement with a local authority on the basis of a different tenure 
mix of affordable housing, the local authority should have flexibility to accept 
alternative tenure mixes, although they should consider whether First Homes could 
be easily substituted for another tenure, either at 25% or a lower proportion. 

Q12: Do you agree with the proposed approach to transitional arrangements set out 
above? 

Level of discount 

59. The minimum discount for First Homes should be 30% from market price which will 
be set by an independent registered valuer. The valuation should assume the home 
is sold as an open market dwelling without restrictions. Local authorities will have 
discretion to increase the discount to 40% or 50%. This would need to be evidenced 
in the local plan making process. 

60. Where discounts of more than 30% are applied to First Homes, the requirement for 
a minimum of 25% of units onsite to be First Homes will remain in place.  

Page 36Agenda Item 7



   
 

23 

Q13: Do you agree with the proposed approach to different levels of discount? 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

61. In line with other affordable housing tenures, we intend to introduce an exemption 
from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) for First Homes. We intend to 
introduce this national exemption through regulations. 

62. Prior to regulations being laid, we encourage CIL charging authorities to make use 
of discretionary affordable housing relief in order to support immediate delivery of 
First Homes. 

63. Further proposals are being developed for an Infrastructure Levy, which would 
replace CIL and Section 106 planning obligations. First Homes will remain integral 
to this approach, as will the delivery of affordable housing more generally. We will 
consider the balance of infrastructure and affordable housing as part of this 
approach. 

Exception sites 

Exception sites and rural exception sites 

64. We intend to introduce a First Homes exception sites policy, to replace the existing 
entry-level exception sites policy. Exception sites are small sites brought forward 
outside the local plan to deliver affordable housing. Under the amended policy, we 
will specify that the affordable homes delivered should be First Homes for local, 
first-time buyers. There will be the flexibility in the policy to allow a small proportion 
of other affordable homes to be delivered on these sites where there is significant 
identified local need as well as a small proportion of market homes where this 
would be necessary to ensure the viability of the site overall. This policy will not 
apply in designated rural areas, where delivery will be through the rural exception 
sites policy.  

65. We intend to remove the National Planning Policy Framework threshold on site size 
that currently applies for entry-level exception sites in footnote 33, but retain the 
requirement that First Homes exception sites should be proportionate in size to the 
existing settlement. 

66. We intend to protect the important role that rural exception sites play in delivering 
affordable homes in rural areas, with rural exception sites being retained as a 
vehicle for delivering affordable housing in designated rural areas. However, we 
recognise that this delivery mechanism is currently underused in many cases, and 
we will update planning guidance in due course. 

Q14: Do you agree with the approach of allowing a small proportion of market 
housing on First Homes exception sites, in order to ensure site viability? 

Q15: Do you agree with the removal of the site size threshold set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework?  

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



   
 

24 

Q16: Do you agree that the First Homes exception sites policy should not apply in 
designated rural areas? 

Please see question 35 for any comments relating to the Public Sector Equality Duty and 

the delivery of First Homes.  

 

Next steps 

67. We intend to begin by making planning policy changes, to ensure that clear 
expectations are set. However, to ensure that First Homes are delivered, 
nationwide, on a consistent basis, we are keeping under consideration the option to 
strengthen the policy through primary legislation at a future date. We also intend to 
introduce an exemption from the Community Infrastructure Levy for First Homes, to 
enable delivery prior to wider developer contribution reform. This would require 
changes to regulations. Lastly, we are also considering significant reforms to the 
system of developer contributions. We will ensure that First Homes will continue to 
be delivered under a reformed approach. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38Agenda Item 7



   
 

25 

Supporting small and medium-sized 
developers 

68. Small and medium-sized builders (SMEs) make an important contribution to overall 
housing supply. Small sites typically build out more quickly than larger sites, as they 
are less constrained by the market absorption rate. SMEs build the majority of 
smaller sites. In addition, the majority of apartments across the country are built by 
SME builders.22 As well as having national importance, SMEs play a significant role 
in local areas – providing people with increased choice in type and design of 
housing. A range of builders, using different designs, across different site sizes in 
different locations increases build out rates and overall supply. 

 

69. SME builders have been declining in the long term and were hit hard by the last 
recession. There were 16% more builder and developer insolvencies in 2019 than in 
201823, the vast majority of which were SMEs. They are now under further pressure 
due to Covid-19. We are committed to supporting SMEs and measures taken that 
support the sector include the Home Building Fund, Help to Buy programme and the 
ENABLE Build guarantee scheme. We are also providing a package of measures to 
help the sector grow and develop, including the Housing Growth Partnership, 
Housing Delivery Fund, as well as our ongoing reforms to the planning system.        
 

70. Contributions from developers play an important role in delivering the infrastructure 
and affordable housing to support communities and local economies. Local 
authorities can obtain these contributions by negotiating section 106 planning 
obligations with a developer and charging a Community Infrastructure Levy on new 
development. 
 

71. We have introduced legislation to give local authorities more flexibility to support 
SMEs, by allowing them to defer Community Infrastructure Levy payments. This will 
enable local planning authorities to support SMEs who are struggling with cashflow, 
while ensuring that local communities still receive contributions towards infrastructure 
from developers in the longer term.  
 

72. To support SMEs in the medium term during economic recovery from Covid-19, we 
are also proposing to reduce the burden of contributions on SMEs for more sites for 
a time-limited period.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
22 Source: MHCLG analysis of Glenigan data.  
23 Source: MHCLG analysis of Insolvency Service statistics on firms involved in the Construction of Buildings 
(SIC 41). 

Page 39 Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/company-insolvency-statistics-releases


   
 

26 

Small sites planning policy   

Developer contributions  

73. Research into developer contributions24 has found that Section 106 planning 
obligations remain a core aspect of planning practice and recent reform of the 
system in 2019 has been largely welcomed. However, there are still inconsistencies 
in local planning authority practice and delay remains a hallmark of the system.  

74. National policy is clear that affordable housing contributions should not be sought 
for developments of fewer than 10 units (small sites). This is to ensure that a 
disproportionate burden of developer contributions is not placed on SMEs. In 
designated rural areas policies may set out a lower threshold of five units or fewer. 
This approach was introduced through a Written Ministerial Statement in November 
2014 and taken forward in the revised National Planning Policy Framework in 2018.  

75. We are aware that the majority of local planning authorities have taken this 
approach forward. Only 8% of authorities have policies in up-to-date plans (less 
than five years old) that do not comply with national policy and are currently seeking 
affordable housing contributions for small sites.  

Economic recovery  

Extending the small sites policy  

76. To stimulate economic recovery with a particular focus on SMEs, the threshold for 
affordable housing contributions could be raised. This would reduce the burden of 
developer contributions, as smaller sites are more likely to be built out by SMEs.  

77. We understand the trade-off between introducing measures to increase the number 
of developable small sites and the importance of securing section 106 planning 
obligations to deliver affordable housing including First Homes. For example, for a 
threshold of up to 40 units we would expect to see a reduction of between 7% and 
14% of section 106 affordable housing delivery over a single year, assuming overall 
housing delivery remained constant. For a threshold of up to 50 units, this would be 
between 10% and 20%. However, we anticipate that raising the threshold would 
make more sites viable for SME developers and would increase the pace of their 
delivery as the need for negotiation would be removed. On balance, the proposed 
approach would allow more small sites to come forward and help minimise the 
economic pressure that SMEs are under.  

 

 
 
24 The Incidence, Value and Delivery of Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy in England 
in 2018-19. Joint research from the University of Liverpool, the University of Cambridge, the University of 
Sheffield and the London School of Economics https://gov.uk/government/publications/section-106-planning-
obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to-2019-report-of-study 
 
 

Page 40Agenda Item 7

https://gov.uk/government/publications/section-106-planning-obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to-2019-report-of-study
https://gov.uk/government/publications/section-106-planning-obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to-2019-report-of-study


   
 

27 

78. To ensure that this measure is targeted at the economic recovery phase and does 
not inflate land prices in the longer term, we are proposing that the higher threshold 
is implemented for a time-limited period and lifted as the economy recovers from 
the impact of Covid-19. This should also minimise any constraints on the 
introduction of First Homes. We are keen to hear views on the benefits and impacts 
of this proposal on the delivery of new homes. 
 

The Government’s proposed approach  

79. We are proposing to raise the small sites threshold to up to either 40 or 50 new 
homes through changes to national planning policy and are seeking views on the 
most appropriate level. These thresholds balance the aim of supporting SMEs with 
the need to deliver new affordable homes. This will be for an initial period of 18 
months in which we will monitor the impact of the raised threshold on the sector 
before reviewing the approach.  
 

80. National policy currently sets out a site size threshold for residential development in 
addition to number of homes. It makes clear that affordable housing contributions 
should not be sought for developments that have a site area of less than 0.5 
hectares. We propose to scale up the site size threshold at the same proportion as 
the increase in number of homes threshold and we are seeking views on whether 
this is the most appropriate approach.   

 
81. There could be adverse threshold effects whereby developers attempt to bring 

forward larger sites in phasings of up to 40 or 50 homes (depending on which 
threshold is taken forward in legislation) to avoid contributions. To minimise the 
impact of this potential threshold effect, we propose to set out in planning guidance 
how local planning authorities can secure contributions for affordable housing 
where it is apparent that a larger site is being brought forward.  

 
For each of these questions, please provide reasons and / or evidence for your 
views (if possible):  
 
Q17: Do you agree with the proposed approach to raise the small sites threshold for 
a time-limited period?  
 
(see question 18 for comments on level of threshold) 
 
Q18: What is the appropriate level of small sites threshold? 
 

i) Up to 40 homes 
ii) Up to 50 homes 
iii) Other (please specify)   

 
Q19: Do you agree with the proposed approach to the site size threshold?  
 
Q20: Do you agree with linking the time-limited period to economic recovery and 
raising the threshold for an initial period of 18 months?   
 
Q21: Do you agree with the proposed approach to minimising threshold effects?  

Page 41 Agenda Item 7



   
 

28 

 

Affordable housing in rural areas 

82. In designated rural areas, local planning authorities can set a lower threshold of five 
units or fewer in their plans. We are aware that rural local authorities secure greater 
proportions of their housing supply as affordable on average when compared to 
urban local authorities. In designated rural areas, we therefore propose to maintain 
the current threshold.  

 
Q22: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to setting thresholds 
in rural areas?  
 

Supporting SMEs  

83. The Government recognises that in addition to planning contributions, there may be 
many reasons why SME builders are unable to access and progress developable 
sites during this time. We are keen to hear whether there are any other ways in 
which the Government can support SME builders to deliver new homes.  

Q23: Are there any other ways in which the Government can support SME builders 
to deliver new homes during the economic recovery period?  
 
Please see question 35 for any comments relating to the Public Sector Equality Duty and 

the small sites proposals.  

 

Next steps  

84. Following the consultation, a decision will be taken on whether to proceed with this 
approach. If it is taken forward, this could be through the introduction of a Written 
Ministerial Statement in the Autumn.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42Agenda Item 7



   
 

29 

Extension of the Permission in Principle 
consent regime  

Introduction of applications process for major developments 

85. Permission in Principle was introduced in 2017 as a new faster way of obtaining 
planning permission for housing-led development, which reduced the need for 
landowners and developers to incur significant costs to establish the principle of 
development for housing. This was done by giving authorities the power to grant 
Permission in Principle to suitable sites allocated on registers of brownfield land.  
Subsequently, Permission in Principle by application was introduced in 2018, for 
minor development (i.e. small sites that support fewer than 10 dwellings).  

 
86. Permission in Principle is designed to separate decision making on ‘in principle’ 

issues addressing land use, location, and scale of development from matters of 
technical detail, such as the design of buildings, tenure mix, transport and 
environmental matters. The aim is to give up-front certainty that the fundamental 
principles of development are acceptable before developers need to work up 
detailed plans and commission technical studies. It also ensures that the principle of 
development only needs to be established once. 
 

87. The Permission in Principle consent route has two stages: 
 

• the first stage (“Permission in Principle”) establishes whether a site is suitable 
in-principle for development. This grant of Permission in Principle is for five 
years and no planning conditions can be attached to it  

• the second (‘technical details consent’) stage is when the detailed development 
proposals are assessed, and conditions can be attached 

 
88. A grant of Permission in Principle plus a grant of technical details consent together 

equates to full planning permission.    
 

Securing the principle of development for housing on more 
sites  

89. As part of our plans to support economic recovery, the Government wants to make 
it easier for landowners and developers to have certainty that the principle of 
development for housing only needs to be established once in the process before 
developers need to get into more costly, technical matters. This is particularly 
important for smaller sites which have not been allocated in local plans and where 
there is now, due to the rapidly changing economic circumstances, a desire by 
landowners to release the land for housing.    
 

90. Planning for the Future proposes that land allocated for substantive development in 
local plans should be automatically granted a form of permission of principle so that 

Page 43 Agenda Item 7



   
 

30 

the principle of development is established, and subsequent consents only focus on 
detailed technical matters. As this new framework will take time to implement, the 
Government is keen to expand the current Permission in Principle framework for 
housing-led development as an early opportunity to move towards this new 
approach. 

 

91. As part of this consultation, we are interested in your views on: 
 

• extending the scope of the current Permission in Principle by application route to 
major development (not subject to EIA or habitats assessments); 

• enhancing the information requirements and publicity arrangements for these 
applications; 

• introducing a revised fee structure, at lower cost, to incentivise their use; 

• including automatically any Permission in Principle granted onto Part 2 of the local 
brownfield land register; and 

• strengthening guidance to support implementation. 

Extending Permission in Principle to cover major 
development 

92. Since 2018, applications for Permission in Principle have gradually increased as 
more developers have become more aware of it. However, the restriction limiting 
the scope of the principle to minor development limits its potential. In particular, in 
town centres and other high-density urban areas, relatively small sites are capable 
of supporting apartment developments of over 10 units, making these sites 
ineligible for Permission in Principle applications. 

 
93. For these sites, if they are brownfield, a landowner could approach the local 

planning authority to add the site to its brownfield land register where Permission in 
Principle status can be granted after consultation. However, this takes time and 
requires proactive local planning authority engagement. Or the landowner could 
submit a full or outline planning permission to secure the principle of development 
before they sell the land interests on to a developer; but given the level of detail 
required, these can be costly to prepare, take time to determine, and often the 
subsequent developer will submit a new outline or full application to reflect their own 
plans. 

 
94. To address this current anomaly, we propose to remove the restriction in the 

current Permission in Principle regulations on major development25. This will 
enable applications for Permission in Principle to be made for a far wider range of 
sites, enabling more landowners and developers to use this route to secure 
permission for housing development. Currently, 84% of planning applications for 
residential development are for schemes of 10-150 homes, which deliver 46% of 
new housing development each year. 

 

 
 
25 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/made  

Page 44Agenda Item 7

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/made


   
 

31 

95. We envisage that a change of this kind will particularly benefit small and medium-
sized developers who tend to focus on building smaller major developments. It will 
reduce their upfront planning costs and provide certainty quickly about the principle 
of development. In doing so, it will complement the Government’s wider initiatives to 
support small and medium developers, including through the Home Builders Fund 
which provides loan funding to meet the development costs of building homes for 
sale or rent and where a loan offer is conditional on applicants having a clear route 
to achieving planning consent. 
 

96. The existing restrictions in the Permission in Principle Regulations relating to  EIA 
and Habitats requirements will remain, reflecting the fact that Permission in 
Principle is granted on the basis of limited technical information and there is not 
sufficient environmental information for these requirements to be accurately 
assessed at the point of decision.  

 
97. This means Permission in Principle by application will not in practice be a route to 

permission for large sites capable of delivering more than 150 dwellings or more 
than 5 hectares – the EIA Regulations 2017 Schedule 2 threshold for urban 
development, save where a screening opinion has been obtained which concluded 
the proposal was not EIA development. Similarly, Permission in Principle will not be 
suitable for sites in areas where, applying the Conservation of Species and Habitats 
Regulations 2017, there is a probability or risk that the project is likely to have a 
significant effect on a European site, unless the application was accompanied by an 
appropriate assessment demonstrating there was unlikely to be significant impact 
on the site.   

    
Q24: Do you agree that the new Permission in Principle should remove the 
restriction on major development?   
 
98. Permission in Principle by application may include other uses as retail, offices, or 

community spaces. However, housing must occupy the majority of the overall 
scheme. Additionally, non-housing development should be compatible with the 
proposed residential development.  

 
99. The current regulations for Permission in Principle by application for minor 

development sets a limit of commercial development to 1,000 sqm, with a maximum 
size capped at 1 hectare. For the expanded Permission in Principle route extending 
to major development, we do not propose to set a limit for commercial 
development space. We do not believe it is necessary to limit the amount of 
commercial floorspace as it will still be the case that Permission in Principle should 
only be granted for development that is housing-led. Non-housing development that 
is compatible and well-integrated into residential development can help to create 
sustainable neighbourhoods.   
  

Q25: Should the new Permission in Principle for major development set any limit 
on the amount of commercial development (providing housing still occupies the 
majority of the floorspace of the overall scheme)? Please provide any comments 
in support of your views. 
 

Page 45 Agenda Item 7



   
 

32 

Process for making a Permission in Principle application for 
major development 

100. We anticipate it will not be necessary to make any significant changes to 
the current process set out in regulations for granting Permission in Principle by 
application. We believe they will largely work for major developments too. This 
includes the 5-week determination period and the 14-day period for consultation 
with the public and statutory consultees, which is critical to ensuring an early 
decision on the principle of development. However, views are sought on 
maintaining the existing information requirements and publicity arrangements as 
these may need to be amended. 

 

Information requirements 

101. The primary decisions about when to grant Permission in Principle will be locally 
driven, taking account of national and local policy. Permission in Principle must be 
followed by an application for technical details consent to agree the details of the 
scheme before the applicant obtains full planning permission and can start work on 
site.  

 
102. We anticipate that the process for making a Permission in Principle application for a 

major development would follow these same procedures, where the relevant 
matters for consideration are location, land use and the amount of development.   

 
103. A Permission in Principle application must be made in writing on a form published 

by the Secretary of State (or a form to substantially the same effect) and include the 
particulars specified or referred to in the form which include: 

• a description of the proposed development,  

• the proposed minimum and maximum number of dwellings,  

• the amount of any non-residential development,  

• the size of the site in hectares, and  

• a brief description of any supporting information that is accompanying the 
application.  

 
104. The local planning authority may not require the submission of any other 

information, including that specified on its local list.  
 

105. For the Permission in Principle stage, we intend to apply broadly the same 
information requirements as for minor development applications26 – that is, the 
developer would only have to provide information as to: the minimum and maximum 
net number of dwellings, and a map or plan of the site (drawn to an identified scale). 
Technical details consent requirements would provide the necessary supplementary 
information for the local planning authority to determine the application.  

 

 
 
26 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/article/4/made - Article 5D 

Page 46Agenda Item 7

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/article/4/made


   
 

33 

106. However, we would be interested in whether, given the larger scale of development, 
there should be an additional maximum height threshold parameter, in terms of 
number of storeys, as part of the Permission in Principle. This would provide greater 
clarity to the applicant and local planning authority about the scale of housing 
development that is acceptable for the site, particularly in high density urban areas. 
Conversely, the inclusion of a maximum height parameter would add further 
complexity to the determination of Permission in Principle as it starts to bring in 
design considerations, and may in practice lead to greater confusion - for instance, 
a high height threshold may only be acceptable for part of the site given the impact 
on neighbouring dwellings.    

Q26:  Do you agree with our proposal that information requirements for Permission 
in Principle by application for major development should broadly remain 
unchanged? If you disagree, what changes would you suggest and why? 
 
Q27: Should there be an additional height parameter for Permission in Principle?  
Please provide comments in support of your views.  
 

Publicity arrangements 

107. Publicity requirements for Permission in Principle by application, as set out in 
regulations,27 require local planning authorities to publicise consultations by site 
notice and by including the application on their website. By contrast, applications for 
planning permission28 require a site notice, publication on the website and placing a 
notice in a local newspaper. 

 
108. We consider that local communities should have the opportunity to make 

representation on major development that might affect them. We propose to amend 
the publicity requirements for Permission in Principle by application so applications 
for Permission in Principle on large sites are subject to publicity beyond just a site 
notice and website publication.   

 
109. Given the shorter timescales for determining Permission in Principle applications we 

want to ensure that local communities are notified quickly about an application. In 
May 2020 we introduced temporary regulations to provide flexibility to how local 
planning authorities can publicise applications if they cannot meet existing statutory 
requirements, including through the use of social media. We would like to 
understand whether there would be benefits in amending the publicity requirements 
for Permission in Principle to enable similar flexibility or whether they should be 
subject to more traditional publicity requirements such as notices in newspapers. 

 
110. We plan to retain the current publicity requirements for statutory consultees and 

parish councils.  

Q28: Do you agree that publicity arrangements for Permission in Principle by 
application should be extended for large developments? If so, should local planning 
authorities be:  

 
 
27 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/made 
28 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/15/made  

Page 47 Agenda Item 7

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/15/made


   
 

34 

 
i) required to publish a notice in a local newspaper?   
ii) subject to a general requirement to publicise the application or  
iii) both?  
iv) disagree 
 
If you disagree, please state your reasons. 
 

Revised fee structure to incentive Permission in Principle by 
application 

 
111. The current fee for Permission in Principle by application for minor development is 

£402 per 0.1 hectare (capped at a maximum of 1 hectare), which is to cover the 
costs incurred in processing the application, as well as the costs of undertaking 
consultation and assessment against local and national policy. 

 
112. Under this fee structure, a Permission in Principle application for a 1-hectare 

development would cost approximately £4000, which is only slightly less than the 
cost of an outline planning application (£4600). We are keen to promote Permission 
in Principle by application as a more streamlined and cheaper alternative to outline 
permission and have considered a number of options to facilitate this. Options 
considered include: a) retaining the current fee structure based on a flat fee per 0.1 
hectare but with a lower fee; b) adopting a site-size criterion, with a charging 
scheme based on the actual number of dwellings (NB. this is not considered 
practical because the exact number of housing units in the proposed scheme will 
not be known until the applicant submits the technical details consent application); 
and c) our preferred option of a simplified banded fee structure, with a fixed 
fee per 0.1 hectare in each band, and maximum fee cap based on the following 
site sizes:   

 

• less than 1 hectare (= £x fee per 0.1 hectare)  

• between 1 to 2.5 hectares (= £y fee per 0.1 hectare)  

• more than 2.5 hectares, capped at a maximum (= £z fee per 0.1 hectare, capped)  
 

113. We think lower fees are reasonable because a local planning authority only needs 
to make a decision on the principle of the development, not on the technical details 
of the development like a normal planning application.    

Q29: Do you agree with our proposal for a banded fee structure based on a flat fee 
per hectarage, with a maximum fee cap?   
 
Q30: What level of flat fee do you consider appropriate, and why? 
 

Brownfield Land Registers and Permission in Principle 

114. Every local authority is required to publish and maintain a Brownfield Land Register, 
which provides up-to-date, digitally and publicly available information on brownfield 
land that is suitable for housing. Brownfield Land Registers are divided into two 

Page 48Agenda Item 7



   
 

35 

parts. Part 1 contains a list of brownfield sites that are considered appropriate for 
residential development; and Part 2 consists of sites which have been taken 
forward from Part 1 of the register and granted automatic Permission in Principle by 
the local planning authority (following consultation). Individual Permission in 
Principle applications granted by local planning authorities from sites that were 
contained in Part 1 of the Brownfield Land Register must also be included in Part 2 
of the Register.  

 
115. Brownfield Land Registers can improve the quality and consistency of data held by 

local planning authorities and help to provide certainty for developers and 
communities, encouraging investment in local areas. Having sufficient and accurate 
data is integral to providing greater transparency about where brownfield sites are 
available across the country. We are soon to publish a national brownfield map 
which will bring together all sites identified in local Brownfield Land Registers so 
there is a clear national picture of brownfield sites suitable for housing.   

 
116. To ensure that Brownfield Land Registers continue to be a single source of 

information for developers and to inform the national brownfield map in the short 
term, we propose that all Permission in Principle by application “consents” that are 
on brownfield land should also be automatically recorded in Part 2 of the Brownfield 
Land Register. In the longer term, under the Planning for the Future proposals, as 
the new local plans are produced, we intend to review the role of  Brownfield Land 
Registers. 

Q31: Do you agree that any brownfield site that is granted Permission in Principle 
through the application process should be included in Part 2 of the Brownfield Land 
Register? If you disagree, please state why. 
 

Additional guidance to support implementation 

117. As Permission in Principle by application is still a new consent route, we are aware 
from anecdotal evidence that understanding of this consent route among 
landowners, developers and local planning authorities is often limited.      

 
118. In particular, it seems some local planning authorities continue to make decisions 

on Permission in Principle based on detailed matters, such as transport access, 
when these should only be taken into consideration at the technical details consent 
stage. It is also not certain that developers and landowners appreciate the gains 
they can make in terms of savings on costs and assessments when ascertaining, 
up front, the suitability of a particular site for development. Providing further 
clarity in guidance on the purpose, process and benefits of Permission in Principle 
should help mitigate this, particularly where consultation responses highlight areas 
of confusion. 

Q32: What guidance would help support applicants and local planning authorities to 
make decisions about Permission in Principle? Where possible, please set out any 
areas of guidance you consider are currently lacking and would assist stakeholders. 
 

 

Page 49 Agenda Item 7



   
 

36 

Regulatory Impact Assessment 

119. Our preliminary assessment is that these regulation changes to Permission in 
Principle will not increase the regulatory burden on business, charities or voluntary 
bodies. The measure should enable applicants to establish upfront, and at minimal 
cost, whether sites are suitable for residential development. Under the existing 
system, applicants typically will pay the much higher cost of preparing and 
submitting a full planning application in order to determine the suitability of a site for 
housing-led development29.  

 
120. After obtaining a grant of Permission in Principle, medium-sized developers should 

find it easier to secure the finance needed to fund a technical detail consent 
application rather than having to fund the cost of a full planning application without 
the certainty afforded by a grant of Permission in Principle.  

 
121. Feedback from consultees will help inform our understanding of the practicalities of 

the proposed measure, as well as to undertake a ‘costs and benefit’ analysis as part 
of a Full Regulatory Impact Assessment, including estimating take-up trajectories. 

Q33:  What costs and benefits do you envisage the proposed scheme would cause?  
Where you have identified drawbacks, how might these be overcome?   
 
Q34: To what extent do you consider landowners and developers are likely to use 
the proposed measure?  Please provide evidence where possible.   
 

Next steps 

122. Following this consultation, if we introduce Permission in Principle by application for 
major development, we aim to introduce amending regulations this Autumn, with the 
regulations expected to come into force by the end of the calendar year. Changes to 
the fee structure would require separate changes to the Planning Fees Regulations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
29 Estimates from the Impact Assessment prepared for the Town and Country (Permission in Principle) (as 
amended) Order 2017 show that the typical cost of preparing and submitting a full planning application at 
approximately £25,000 for a minor site, including fee costs.  The cost for full planning permission for a major 
site (based on 100 dwellings) is approximately £40-£50,000. 

Page 50Agenda Item 7



   
 

37 

Public Sector Equality Duty  

123. The Equality Act 2010 requires public authorities to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations. It relates specifically to groups with protected characteristics including age, 
disability, sex, race, religion or belief, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy, and maternity. 
  

Q35: In light of the proposals set out in this consultation, are there any direct or 
indirect impacts in terms of eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality 
of opportunity and fostering good relations on people who share characteristics 
protected under the Public Sector Equality Duty?  
 
If so, please specify the proposal and explain the impact. If there is an impact – are 
there any actions which the department could take to mitigate that impact? 

 

 

  

Page 51 Agenda Item 7



   
 

38 

About this consultation 

 
This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the 
Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.  
 
Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they 
represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions 
when they respond. 
 
Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal data, may be 
published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA), the General Data Protection Regulation, and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 
 
If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware 
that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the Freedom of Information Act and 
may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of 
this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have 
provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will 
take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality 
can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated 
by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department. 
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will process your personal 
data in accordance with the law and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that 
your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. A full privacy notice is included at 
Annex A. 
 
Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested. 
 
Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and 
respond. 
 
Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles? If not or 
you have any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact us 
via the complaints procedure.  
  

Page 52Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-communities-and-local-government/about/complaints-procedure


   
 

39 

Annex A 

 
The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are be entitled to 
under data protection legislation. 
  
These rights apply to your personal data (your name, direct contact details such as an 
email address, and any other information that could be used to identify you personally).  
 
1. The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection 
Officer     
 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data 
controller. The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at 
dataprotection@communities.gov.uk.    
  
2. Why we are collecting your personal data    
Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation process, so 
that we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical purposes. We may also 
use it to contact you about related matters. 
 
3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data  
Article 6(1)(e) of the General Data Protection Regulation 2016 (GPDR) provides that 
processing shall be lawful if processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried 
out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller.  
Section 8(d) of the Data Protection Act 2018 further provides that this shall include 
processing of personal data that is necessary for the exercise of a function of the Crown, a 
Minister of the Crown or a government department. 
 
The processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest 
or in the exercise of official authority vested in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government. The task is consulting on departmental policies or proposals or 
obtaining opinion data in order to develop good effective government policies in relation to 
planning. 
  
4. With whom we will be sharing your personal data 
We will not share your personal data with organisations outside of MHCLG without 
contacting you for your permission first. 
  
5. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the 
retention period.  
Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation. 
  
6. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, erasure   
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say over 
what happens to it. You have the right: 
 a. to see what data, we have about you 
 b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record 
 c. to ask to have all or some of your data deleted or corrected 

Page 53 Agenda Item 7

mailto:dataprotection@communities.gov.uk


   
 

40 

 d. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if you think 
we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law.  You can contact the 
ICO at https://ico.org.uk/ , or telephone 0303 123 1113. 
 
7. Storage of your personal data  
The Data you provide directly will be stored by MHCLG’s appointed third-party on their 
servers. We have taken all necessary precautions to ensure that your rights in terms of 
data protection will not be compromised by this. 
  
If you submit information to this consultation using our third-party survey provider, it will be 
moved to our secure government IT systems at a date following the consultation 
publication date. 
 
8. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making. 
 

Page 54Agenda Item 7

https://ico.org.uk/


 
 

Appendix B 

The standard method for assessing housing numbers in strategic 
plans 
 
Q1: Do you agree that planning practice guidance should be amended to specify 
that the appropriate baseline for the standard method is whichever is the higher of 
the level of 0.5% of housing stock in each local authority area OR the latest 
household projections averaged over a 10-year period? 
 
No.  Dartford Council strongly objects to this first step in the methodology, which for many 
authorities, including Dartford, will be based on the household projections rather than the 
percentage of housing stock.  An alternative method based on the housing stock alone is 
proposed and set out at Q2 below. It is not considered that the government’s proposed 
formula is a fair, sustainable or future-looking methodology from which to derive a baseline.   
 
1. It is unfair, since it penalises those authorities that have delivered on their housing needs 
and more.  Where delivery has exceeded housing needs as in Dartford’s case, this 
encourages further in-migration resulting in a spiral of ever-increasing housing projection 
figures, since the projections build in past levels of in-migration.  By contrast, those 
authorities that have underprovided for their internal housing needs export the need 
elsewhere.  This results in net outmigration and lower household projections.  By using this 
methodology these under-providing authorities are rewarded for past under-delivery by low 
housing delivery targets in the future.   
 
The table below shows how the 2018 household projections relate to the existing housing 
stock for Medway and the Kent districts.  Whilst there is not an exact correlation and there 
are other factors at play, it is evident that those authorities which have delivered high rates of 
housing, generally have higher household projections as a percentage of their existing 
housing stock.  By contrast, those authorities with a poor record of delivery, tend to have 
lower household projections. 
 

Impact of Past Housing Delivery on Household Projections 
  Housing 

Stock 2019 
 

Average 
delivery 

over last 3 
years 

Delivery as 
a % of 

Housing 
Stock 

2018-based 
household 
projection 

2018 projection 
as a % of 

Housing Stock 
(in order) 

DARTFORD 47,309 1,069 2.26 657 1.39 

ASHFORD 54,390 722 1.33 674 1.24 

SWALE 61,990 605 0.98 700 1.13 

FOLKESTONE 
AND HYTHE 

52,270 516 
0.99 

569 1.09 

TONBRIDGE 
AND MALLING 

55,180 806 
1.46 

579 1.05 

MAIDSTONE 72,130 1,192 1.65 732 1.01 

DOVER 54,510 435 0.80 667 0.98 

THANET 67,490 308 0.46 544 0.81 

CANTERBURY 68,160 662 0.97 503 0.74 

TUNBRIDGE 
WELLS 

51,340 486 0.95 347 0.68 

SEVENOAKS 50,510 322 0.64 315 0.62 

MEDWAY 115,150 660 0.57 415 0.36 

GRAVESHAM 43,570 244 0.56 139 0.32 

Page 55 Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

 
 
The comparison between Dartford and Gravesham, is particularly stark in demonstrating the 
huge distortions this formula results in.  These are two adjoining authorities with similar 
population size (Dartford only recently having overtaken Gravesham because of its high 
growth rates) and similar constraints (Green Belt and flooding).  Gravesham is a third larger 
in area than Dartford. Gravesend station has faster journey times to Central London than 
Dartford station.  Yet Dartford has been increasing its housing stock at four times the rate of 
Gravesham.  The outcome of this is that the 2018 household projections show an 
increase of 657 households per annum for Dartford, as compared to 139 for 
Gravesham.  As a percentage of the housing stock, the increase is more than four 
times higher for Dartford than it is for Gravesham. 
 
2. This formula is not sustainable because it puts pressure for delivery in those authorities 
that have already delivered much housing.  In Dartford where the rate of growth has been 
running at about 2% annually of the existing housing stock, double the national rate, the area 
cannot absorb the level of housing proposed and there is no spare infrastructure capacity.  
At these rates of growth, infrastructure cannot be delivered fast enough to serve the growing 
population.  This is contrary to the Planning White Paper support for infrastructure delivery to 
be in tandem with housing growth. 
 
In order to meet ever-increasing targets, either unacceptable densification (not the ‘gentle 
densification’ proposed in the Planning White Paper) or development at unsustainable 
locations away from public transport and outside the urban areas, will need to be brought 
forward.  In Dartford, that will result in the loss of Green Belt which the Planning White Pape 
seeks to protect. 
 
3.  It is not future-looking because it is based on historic trends which it is assumed will 
continue.  The history of demographic trends in London and its suburbs shows that there 
have been times in history when a reversal of the prevailing demographic trend has 
occurred, resulting in alternating growth and decline of London’s population. 
 
The rapid societal changes now taking place as a result of Covid 19 will quite likely result in 
one of these demographic shifts as people re-evaluate their choices.  If implemented, the 
formula will result in huge densification in London and the south east, resulting in dense 
high-rise housing with no private outdoor space and of the type that people no longer wish to 
live in. 
 
It will be a missed opportunity for ‘levelling-up’ in the North and Midlands.  A reduced 
housing requirement in areas which are in need of ‘levelling up’ will deprive them of the 
investment, regeneration and construction jobs that come from house-building.  If the 
demand for housing in these areas is not met, it will also result in the continued outmigration 
of the educated and skilled workforce.  Research by Stantec has demonstrated that for 
several authorities in the Midlands, North West and North East the revised local housing 
need figure is less than half of the number of homes built.  These houses would not be being 
built if there was not a demand for them. 
  
Whilst it is noted that the baseline figure under the proposed formula will form 
proportionately less of the overall need number than the current standard method does, it 
none the less sets the magnitude of the final figure.  The distortions that arise from this 
baseline formula are magnified when the affordability factors are applied. 
 
Q2: In the stock element of the baseline, do you agree that 0.5% of existing stock for 
the standard method is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 

Page 56Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

No.  Dartford Council proposes that a percentage of the existing stock should be used as the 
primary determinant of the housing needs figure, rather than a fall-back position. 
 
However, to adopt this alternative approach, 0.5% of the existing housing stock will not 
achieve the government’s objective of over 300,000 homes a year.  It is proposed that 
1.25% of the existing housing stock is an appropriate figure to be applied, not as a baseline 
to which further affordability factors are added, but as a final figure.  This will achieve the 
government’s objective by resulting in a total figure of around 330,000 homes a year.  As 
proposed in the White Paper (para 2.25), this standard method of distribution should then be 
locally adjusted taking into account the constraints and opportunities in an area.   
 
Linking housing need figures to existing housing stock will allow areas to grow equitably and 
sustainably.  Growth will be proportionate to the existing number of households in the area 
and cater for the growth of those households, allowing strong and stable communities to be 
maintained.  It will be more responsive to the way people are now choosing to live, closer to 
their families and in less dense environments.  It will also avoid the massive increases in 
requirements for housing delivery in London and the south east which are not in practice 
achievable or deliverable and which are based on historic rather than future trends.   
 
 
Q3: Do you agree that using the workplace-based median house price to median 
earnings ratio from the most recent year for which data is available to adjust the 
standard method’s baseline is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 
No. Dartford Council objects to the use of any adjustment based on affordability ratios.   
 
The consultation paper states ‘The affordability of homes is the best evidence that supply is 
not keeping up with demand.’ (para 31).  On the contrary, the data for Kent districts and 
Medway shows that there is little correlation between housing delivery and affordability at the 
local authority level. 
 

Impact of Housing Delivery on the Affordability Ratio 
  

Average 
delivery 

(last 3 years) 

Delivery as a 
% of Housing 

stock 

2009-2019 
House Price 
% increase 

Affordability 
Ratio 
2019 

SEVENOAKS 322 0.64 42% 13.12 

TUNBRIDGE 
WELLS 

486 0.95 57% 12.48 

TONBRIDGE 
AND MALLING 

806 1.46 53% 11.79 

CANTERBURY 662 0.97 69% 10.65 

MAIDSTONE 1,192 1.65 56% 10.4 

THANET 308 0.46 61% 9.59 

FOLKESTONE 
AND HYTHE 

516 0.99 23% 9.52 

ASHFORD 722 1.33 51% 9.39 

DARTFORD 1,069 2.26 80% 9.23 

SWALE 605 0.98 64% 9.03 

GRAVESHAM 244 0.56 71% 8.62 

MEDWAY 660 0.57 73% 8.41 

DOVER 435 0.80 55% 8.22 

Page 57 Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

 
The data above shows there is no discernible trend between past levels of delivery and the 
affordability ratio.  Dartford, which has had proportionate rates of delivery has an affordability 
ratio which is higher (worse) than Swale, Gravesham, Medway and Dover, all of which have 
had significantly lower delivery rates.  In Dartford, far from reducing house prices, high 
delivery levels have coincided with the highest growth in house price in the county over the 
last ten years.   
 
Any adjustment based on the affordability ratio is, therefore, totally inappropriate since it is 
evidently not an indicator of unmet housing need at the local authority level.  House prices 
and house price growth are complex and are the result of a number of factors including land 
values, employment factors, journey times to large employment centres etc.   
 
In the context of London and its surroundings, waves of demand push outwards until an 
equilibrium is achieved between the travel time/costs and house prices.  With a historic 
infinite demand arising from London (a trend which may now be reversed) an increase in 
delivery in a local authority area will not result in reduced house prices or an improvement in 
affordability.  On the contrary, the creation of an enlarged new local housing offer provides 
the opportunity for developers to market these new homes at rates far higher than the 
existing housing stock.  It is evident in Dartford that there is a very significant margin on the 
price of new homes as compared to the existing housing stock.  It is this new stock which is 
driving the decreasing affordability in Dartford and putting housing out of the reach of local 
people.   
 
Q4: Do you agree that incorporating an adjustment for the change of affordability 
over 10 years is a positive way to look at whether affordability has improved? If not, 
please explain why. 
 
No.  
  
Dartford Council strongly objects to incorporating an adjustment for the change of 
affordability over 10 years. This is unlikely to have a positive effect on affordability.  With 
both steps 2 and 3 in the proposed methodology relating to the affordability ratio, a double 
penalty is placed on those areas which experience high and increasing house prices, even 
where they are more than meeting their local housing needs.   
 
It is irrelevant to consider if it is an appropriate way to measure whether affordability has 
improved.  This is based on an assumption that increased delivery will improve affordability.  
The response to Q3 above demonstrates that this is not the case.   
 
This indicator is too simplistic to be used in determining local housing need. The changes in 
an area’s affordability ratio is influenced by many factors including rising house prices 
unconnected to levels of local need; increasing land values; and changes to local markets. 
 
The table below demonstrates that far from resulting in improved affordability, high levels of 
housing delivery are just as likely to result in worsening affordability for local residents.  
There is no clear correlation between delivery rates and changing affordability.  Dartford, 
which has had the highest delivery rates in the County as a percentage of its housing stock, 
has also experienced affordability worsening at a greater rate than every other authority in 
the County, with the exception of Sevenoaks and Tonbridge & Malling.  
 
 
 
 

  

Page 58Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

Impact of Housing Delivery on Changes in Affordability  
  

Average 
delivery 
(last 3 
years) 

Delivery 
as a % of 
Housing 

stock 

Affordability 
Ratio 
2009 

Affordability 
Ratio 
2019 

Change in 
Affordability 

Ratio 
2009-2019 

SEVENOAKS 322 0.64 8.98 13.12 4.14 

TONBRIDGE 
AND MALLING 

806 1.46 7.79 11.79 4.00 

DARTFORD 1,069 2.26 5.76 9.23 3.47 

CANTERBURY 662 0.97 7.37 10.65 3.28 

SWALE 605 0.98 5.81 9.03 3.22 

MEDWAY 660 0.57 5.34 8.41 3.03 

MAIDSTONE 1,192 1.65 7.43 10.4 2.97 

GRAVESHAM 244 0.56 6.34 8.62 2.28 

THANET 308 0.46 7.46 9.59 2.13 

FOLKESTONE 
AND HYTHE 

516 0.99 7.57 9.52 1.95 

DOVER 435 0.80 6.34 8.22 1.88 

ASHFORD 722 1.33 7.55 9.39 1.84 

TUNBRIDGE 
WELLS 

486 0.95 8.32 12.48 1.16 

 
 
Q5: Do you agree that affordability is given an appropriate weighting within the 
standard method? If not, please explain why. 
 
No.  The use of affordability to adjust the housing need figure is totally inappropriate and no 
weighting at all should be afforded to it.  It is based on an incorrect assumption that 
affordability is poor in those areas that have not delivered sufficient housing.  The data 
demonstrates that this is not the case.  
 
Furthermore, the two steps in the affordability calculation result in a double penalty for those 
areas that have delivered on housing need but not benefitted from improved affordability. 
 
The responses to Qs 3 and 4 set out in more detail why these affordability adjustments are 
inappropriate. 
 
Do you agree that authorities should be planning having regard to their revised 
standard method need figure, from the publication date of the revised guidance, 
with the exception of: 
 
Q6: Authorities which are already at the second stage of the strategic plan 
consultation process (Regulation 19), which should be given 6 months to submit 
their plan to the Planning Inspectorate for examination? 
 
Yes.  There would be long delays to adoption of Local Plans which are well progressed in 
the event that such transitional provisions are not introduced. 
 
Q7: Authorities close to publishing their second stage consultation (Regulation 19), 
which should be given 3 months from the publication date of the revised guidance 

Page 59 Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

to publish their Regulation 19 plan, and a further 6 months to submit their plan to 
the Planning Inspectorate? 
 
If not, please explain why. Are there particular circumstances which need to be 
catered for? 
 
No.  Dartford Council considers that authorities should be given 6 months rather than 3 
months from the publication date of the revised guidance to publish their Regulation 19 plan.  
This would be more appropriate given the rapidly occurring changes to the planning system, 
the timings and lead in times for reporting to full Council meetings and the purdah periods 
associated with the various elections which are due to take place on 6 May 2021. 
 

Delivering First Homes 
 
Q8: The Government is proposing policy compliant planning applications will 
deliver a minimum of 25% of onsite affordable housing as First Homes, and a 
minimum of 25% of offsite contributions towards First Homes where appropriate. 
Which do you think is the most appropriate option for the remaining 75% of 
affordable housing secured through developer contributions? Please provide 
reasons and / or evidence for your views (if possible): 
 

i) Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, 
and delivering rental tenures in the ratio set out in the local plan policy. 

 

ii) Negotiation between a local authority and developer. 
 

iii) Other (please specify) 
 
i) Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, and delivering rental 
tenures in the ratio set out in the local plan policy.  The existing Dartford Core Strategy 
includes an affordable housing policy requiring the provision of between 50-80% 
intermediate dwellings with the remainder to be provided as affordable rented housing; but 
more recent plans and evidence make clear that there is a need for more affordable rented 
homes (57%) than other types of affordable housing (43%).  The requirement for 25% of 
affordable dwellings to be First Homes would be feasible within the context of Dartford’s 
existing policies but would lead to a lower provision of other types of intermediate affordable 
dwellings such as shared ownership.  There are circumstances where different amounts and 
types of affordable housing than required by Local Plan policy are provided due to site 
viability issues or where numbers of affordable rented products are too low for a registered 
provider to take on – this is subject to negotiation between the Council and the developer.  
The requirement for the provision of First Homes should not negate the Council’s ability to 
negotiate for the provision of affordable rented homes in such circumstances.  Therefore, it 
should be made clear and explicit when policy is finalised that the requirement to 
provide 25% First Homes applies to affordable housing policy compliant 
development; in other circumstances there must be flexibility to negotiate.  
 
With regards to current exemptions from delivery of affordable home ownership 
products: 
 
Q9: Should the existing exemptions from the requirement for affordable home 
ownership products (e.g. for build to rent) also apply to apply to this First Homes 
requirement? 
 
Yes. 

Page 60Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

 
Q10: Are any existing exemptions not required? If not, please set out which 
exemptions and why. 
 
Existing exemptions should remain. 
 
Q11: Are any other exemptions needed? If so, please provide reasons and /or 
evidence for your views. 
 
No.  The presumption should be that affordable housing will be provided in as many 
circumstances as possible. 
 
Q12: Do you agree with the proposed approach to transitional arrangements set out 
above? 
 
Yes. The proposed approach will not affect the preparation of the new Dartford Local Plan. 
 
Q13: Do you agree with the proposed approach to different levels of discount? 
 
Paragraph 59 states that the different levels of discount would need to be evidenced in the 
local plan making process.  It should be made clear when national policy is finalised whether 
or not a 30% discount is the default position, and when and on what basis variation to a 
higher discount would be allowed under national policy, e.g. justified locally through 
impacts on other forms of affordable housing provision, viability assessment etc. 
 
Q14: Do you agree with the approach of allowing a small proportion of market 
housing on First Homes exception sites, in order to ensure site viability? 
 
There is no indication of whether the proposed First Homes exception sites policy would 
apply to Green Belts or not.  It is noted that the current entry-level exception site policy 
(NPPF paragraph 71) does not allow homes suitable for first time buyers on land designated 
as Green Belt.  If it is intended to apply the First Homes exception sites policy to Green Belt 
sites, then we object to allowing a proportion of market homes to be developed.  The 
purpose of exception sites is that they are more viable for the provision of affordable 
dwellings as they should have agricultural land/lower value than sites identified as suitable 
for market housing.  Therefore, it is unnecessary, plus it risks undermining exception sites. 
 
Q15: Do you agree with the removal of the site size threshold set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework? 
 
No.  We consider that the one hectare/ 5% of the size of the existing settlement threshold 
should be retained to provide clarity. 
 
Q16: Do you agree that the First Homes exception sites policy should not apply in 
designated rural areas? 
 
No comment as Dartford Borough does not have any designated rural areas. 
 

Supporting small and medium-sized developers 
 
For each of these questions, please provide reasons and / or evidence for your 
views (if possible): 
 
Q17: Do you agree with the proposed approach to raise the small sites threshold for 

Page 61 Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

a time-limited period? 
 
No.  We consider that this is unnecessary and would not help in the delivery of affordable 
housing in Dartford.  In common with other areas, there is an urgent need for affordable 
rented housing in Dartford, as evidenced by our recent Housing Study  It would impact on 
our current threshold for the provision of affordable housing (15 dwellings or 0.5ha), with the 
type and amount of affordable housing provided being subject to a viability assessment. 
 
Despite Covid-19, Dartford Borough continues at present to receive a healthy number of 
planning applications.  It is not clear how the proposals will address the issue of economic 
recovery following COVID and supporting smaller sites delivery in the short term: due to the 
time it would take a developer to prepare a planning submission, the subsequent 
determination period and then the need to mobilise to begin on site, outputs of a policy 
change will be delayed. It is considered more likely that the main outcome could be a 
number of ill-prepared planning applications being submitted, so that planning permissions 
can be banked rather than quickly built out.  
 
If it is, nonetheless decided to implement this policy and if it is to have any impact on 
economic recovery, it is suggested that there is a time limit of one year for 
commencement of the development. 
 
Q18: What is the appropriate level of small sites threshold? 
 

i) Up to 40 homes 

ii) Up to 50 homes 

iii) Other (please specify) 
 
Other.  Retain current thresholds – see responses to Qs17 and 19. 
 
Q19: Do you agree with the proposed approach to the site size threshold? 
 
No.  We do not consider that there should be any changes to the site size threshold for the 
reasons outlined in response to Q17. 
 
Q20: Do you agree with linking the time-limited period to economic recovery and 
raising the threshold for an initial period of 18 months? 
 
No.  Paragraph 79 states that this change would be for an initial period of 18 months subject 
to monitoring and review.  The Council is concerned that there is a real risk that this would 
become a permanent change to policy with major impacts over time on the provision of 
affordable housing in Dartford Borough where there is an urgent need for affordable rented 
housing.  If this is introduced, the Council considers that the final guidance should clearly 
specify a date on which the change will expire, as has been done for previous legislative 
changes to permitted development rights. 
 
Q21: Do you agree with the proposed approach to minimising threshold effects? 
 
Whilst the Council disagrees with the proposal to change the thresholds at which affordable 
housing should be provided, if it is decided to implement this then the Council agrees that 
there would be a need for planning guidance in relation to the phasing of larger sites and the 
provision of affordable housing. 
 
 
 

Page 62Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

Q22: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to setting thresholds 
in rural areas? 
 
No comment as Dartford Borough does not have any designated rural areas. 
 
Q23: Are there any other ways in which the Government can support SME builders 
to deliver new homes during the economic recovery period? 
 
We recognise the potential role of SME builders to delivering new homes on smaller sites in 
Dartford Borough.  There are a number of ways that the Government can support SME 
builders as follows: 

 Publish a national brownfield land register 

 Remove areas of current national policy uncertainty by confirming and implementing now 
with clear guidance the various proposed new standards, e.g. Future Homes, electric 
vehicle charging points etc. 

 Consider non-planning related financial incentives 
 

Extension of the Permission in Principle consent regime 
 
Q24: Do you agree that the new Permission in Principle should remove the 
restriction on major development? 
 
No, there will be insufficient information to make decisions on the number of dwellings that 
could be accommodated on the site, particularly in urban locations where there will be no 
ability to alter dwelling types to fit the number permitted. On town centre and urban 
brownfield sites, such developments will need to be knitted into the urban fabric in order to 
ensure good design.  At the ‘in principle’ stage and without detailed drawings, it will not be 
possible to assess how many units can be accommodated on each floor of a block to 
provide good quality accommodation whilst also taking account other constraints on site, 
without having the technical detail to make this decision. Granting an upper limit of dwelling 
numbers on urban sites will therefore not provide the developer with any certainty that these 
numbers will be granted technical details consent, or alternatively will need to be very 
conservative, and so will not assist with financing.  
 
The Council considers that the identification of sites through the Local Plan process, which 
usually provides a guide as to the housing capacity, provides certainty for developers as to 
whether the principle is acceptable.  This should provide developers with sufficient certainty 
to proceed through a Full planning application, rather than a two staged approach of Outline 
application, followed by Reserved Matters.  This is particularly since the governments focus 
is on the smaller ‘major’ schemes of between 10 and 150 units. 
 
The Council also has concerns that this proposal will remove the rights of the community 
and elected Members to have such decisions considered by planning committee, due to the 
5 week time period.  In addition, the need for a section106 legal agreement for some major 
developments, to be prepared at technical details consent stage, is likely to take longer than 
5 weeks. 
 
If this is brought forward the Council considers that sites within Conservation Areas 
should be excluded and the time period should be increased to 13 weeks for major 
permissions in principle and technical details consent with extensions of times allowed. 
 
Q25: Should the new Permission in Principle for major development set any limit on 
the amount of commercial development (providing housing still occupies the majority 
of the floorspace of the overall scheme)? Please provide any comments in support of 

Page 63 Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

your views. 
 
We agree that PiPs could appropriately be extended to cover commercial development, but 
also think that there is a case for further extending it to cover community facilities.  There is 
some concern over the possibility of very high levels of commercial development occurring 
through PiP, this eventuality needs to be dealt with through introducing clear guidance on 
the applicable scope of PiPs. 
 
Q26: Do you agree with our proposal that information requirements for Permission 
in Principle by application for major development should broadly remain 
unchanged? If you disagree, what changes would you suggest and why? 
 
See above – the Council do not consider that Permissions in Principle should be extended to 
major development but if they do the following should be provided as part of the submission: 

- Indicative site plans including zones for landscaping and trees  
- Indicative floor layouts should be provided for urban flatted developments 
- Parameters with regard to height/number of storeys, to be varied across the site 

where appropriate 
- A land use plan 
- Notice should be served on the landowner, as required for planning applications 

 
Q27: Should there be an additional height parameter for Permission in Principle? 
Please provide comments in support of your views. 
 
Agree, this would help to ensure that the impacts of the proposals are better understood and 
would ensure that if the maximum number of dwellings granted cannot be accommodated 
within this height parameter there is not pressure to increase the height of the development 
which would result in harm to neighbours or the appearance of the surrounding area. 
 
Q28: Do you agree that publicity arrangements for Permission in Principle by 
application should be extended for large developments? If so, should local planning 
authorities be: 

i) required to publish a notice in a local newspaper? 

ii) subject to a general requirement to publicise the application or 

iii) both? 

iv) disagree 
 
If you disagree, please state your reasons. 
The Council disagrees with the requirement to publish a notice in the newspaper, as the 
required lead in time by the press for such adverts will delay the start of the consultation 
period, such that the Council will have little time to consider any responses. 
 
The Council considers that as the requirement for a site notice and the current requirement 
to publicise on the Council’s website is considered sufficient for the existing permission in 
principle regime it should be acceptable for major developments although the Council is also 
likely to send letters to neighbouring occupiers. 
 
The Council does have concern that some sites may receive a significant amount of 
objection and that such proposals should then be considered by the Council’s elected 
Members.  The 5 week time period does not allow for this and also therefore removes the 
right of the public to speak at committee or for their application to be decided by elected 
Members.  The Council considers therefore that the proposals affect the democratic process 
of considering the principal of major new developments, as applications for PiPs will most 
probably not have been considered through the Local Plan process. 

Page 64Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

 
 
 
Q29: Do you agree with our proposal for a banded fee structure based on a flat fee 
per hectarage, with a maximum fee cap? 
 
No, many sites for redevelopment in urban area will have a low hectarage but are likely to 
raise more issues and require far more detailed considered than greenfield or low density 
cleared brownfield sites. A fee based on hectarage on such sites would not then reflect the 
complexity of the consideration. 
The Council is seeking to encourage redevelopment of existing town centre sites and it is 
likely that many applications for new development will relate to small complex urban sites. 
 
The Council suggest that the fee should be based on the median or the upper 20% of 
maximum number of dwellings proposed.  
 
 
Q30: What level of flat fee do you consider appropriate, and why? 
The Council considers that the flat fee should be based on the current fees for outline 
planning permission, as the Council will need to divert resources of experienced planning 
officers to consider these applications and the timescales involved will require almost full-
time attention to such cases. In addition, in order to consider the proposal without detail it is 
likely that the Council will have to procure expertise from an architect or urban designer. This 
is difficult to manage when the Council have no warning of when an application will be 
submitted and is therefore likely to impact on the consideration of other planning applications 
under consideration and will need an-going commitment with regard to the procurement of 
architect skills. An adequate fee is therefore required to ensure that the Council can 
adequately fund additional resources in such a short time span. 
 
 
Q31: Do you agree that any brownfield site that is granted Permission in Principle 
through the application process should be included in Part 2 of the Brownfield Land 
Register? If you disagree, please state why. 
 
Yes.  This would ensure consistency between the application process and the Brownfield 
Land Register. 
 
Q32: What guidance would help support applicants and local planning authorities to 
make decisions about Permission in Principle? Where possible, please set out any 
areas of guidance you consider are currently lacking and would assist stakeholders. 
 
Clearer guidance for applicants on the process and what they will need to submit at technical 
details consent stage 
 
Guidance for the local planning authority on what can be considered at technical details 
consent stage and how LPAs should deal with developments where the technical details 
demonstrate that the maximum number of dwellings cannot be provided. 
 
 
 
Q33: What costs and benefits do you envisage the proposed scheme would cause? 
Where you have identified drawbacks, how might these be overcome? 
 
The benefit is that the developer will understand whether the principle of residential 
development of a site is acceptable and the Council supports this. Dartford Borough Council 

Page 65 Agenda Item 7



 
 

Appendix B 

seeks to do this through the Local Plan and is looking at ways to give this confidence to 
developers in the new Local Plan.  The Council considers that this is ‘in principle’ 
reassurance for major developments is better provided through the Local Plan process 
which has had full consultation in the Local area and has been considered by elected 
Members. 
 
The costs of the scheme are that without adequate detail and fully understanding the 
constraints of the site it is not possible to determine the upper level of residential units that 
could be acceptable. This could lead to pressure at technical details stage for the Council to 
accept developments that are out of character with the local area; have no open space, or 
opportunity for tree planting; have no room for adequate private gardens or amenity space; 
in urban and town centres result in higher buildings that have an impact on the visual 
amenity of the area; have inadequate car parking, waste storage and cycle provision due to 
lack of room left on the site. 
 
An additional cost is that the community will feel alienated by this process, with decisions 
being made within a very short timescale, particularly on sites which are not identified in the 
Local Plan. They are likely to feel aggrieved at the lack of opportunity to have their say.  
 
 
Q34: To what extent do you consider landowners and developers are likely to use 
the proposed measure? Please provide evidence where possible. 
 
Unknown.  Only one application has been made for a permission in principle in Dartford 
Borough. This was for one dwelling in the garden of an existing house and was invalid 
initially as the applicant had not understood the process and not submitted the required 
detail. 
 
Q35: In light of the proposals set out in this consultation, are there any direct or 
indirect impacts in terms of eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality 
of opportunity and fostering good relations on people who share characteristics 
protected under the Public Sector Equality Duty? 
 
If so, please specify the proposal and explain the impact. If there is an impact – are 
there any actions which the department could take to mitigate that impact? 
 
 

Page 66Agenda Item 7



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
22 September 2020 

 
CABINET 

24 September 2020 
  

PARKING SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 This report submits the 2018 / 2020 Parking Services Annual Report for 
Members’ consideration prior to it being published on the Council’s website.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
Joint Transportation Board 
 
2.1  That Members consider the Parking Services Annual Report at Appendix A and 
pass on any comments to Cabinet. 
 
Cabinet 
 
2.2    That Members consider the Parking Services Annual Report at Appendix A, 
taking into consideration any comments from the Joint Transportation Board, note 
its content and agree that it be made available to the public via the Council’s 
website.  
    

 
3. Introduction  

 
3.1 The Traffic Management Act 2004 and the Local Government 

Transparency Code requires that councils that carry out parking 
enforcement and provide residents and businesses with information 
about their parking enforcement activities.  

 
3.2 The report at Appendix A is intended to be informative and helpful, 

setting out Dartford Borough Council’s approach to parking management 
and providing information about parking provision, as well as statistical 
and other relevant and comparative data. 

 
3.3 The report also details parking related projects undertaken and in 

progress by the Parking Service in the past 2 years, such as the 
introduction of new residents’ permit parking schemes, parking terminals 
involving the replacement of 12 existing on-street and off-street Parking 
Metric pay and display machines with new IPS MS1 terminals / machines 
along with new EV electric charge points FOR Westgate and Acacia car 
parks.  
New and upgraded, more efficient Notice Processing Software ‘Parking 
3Sixty’and the School Safety Car. 

 

Page 67 Agenda Item 8



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
22 September 2020 

 
CABINET 

24 September 2020 
  

3.4 The report may be subject to minor format and design changes prior to 
final publication on the website which will be shared with members 
accordingly. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

By providing an effective on-street and off-street parking enforcement 
service that ensures a reduction in traffic congestion, pollution and hazards 
to pedestrians, Parking Services supports Corporate Plan Strategic Aim 
SC1: 

To use the Council’s statutory functions to increase public safety in the 

Borough. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 

Financial Implications The report covers both on-street and off-street 
(Council car parks) enforcement activity. On-
street enforcement is undertaken in accordance 
with an agreement with Kent County Council as 
Highways Authority and all income and 
expenditure accounted for to that body. The 
Council is not permitted to make a profit from its 
on-street parking enforcement activity. 

The costs of providing, managing and enforcing 
the Council’s own car parks are detailed in the 
Council’s Budget and Fees and Charges. 

Legal Implications The Council undertakes parking management 
and enforcement activities in accordance with 
The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, The 
Traffic Management Act 2004 and The Local 
Government Transparency code. 

Staffing Implications As set out in Appendix A 

Administrative 
Implications 

As set out in Appendix A 

Risk Assessment None identified 

  
6.   Details of Exempt Information Category 
 

 Not applicable 
 
 
 

Page 68Agenda Item 8



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
22 September 2020 

 
CABINET 

24 September 2020 
  

7.   Appendices 
 
 Appendix A – Parking Services Annual Report  

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 25/08/20 Richard Cherry 
Enforcement Manager 
(01322) 343036  

Enforcement 
& Regulatory 
Services 

N/A 

 

Page 69 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70



CIVIL ENFORCEMENT 
& PARKING SERVICES

Enforcement and Regulatory Services

REPORT
2018 - 2020

Appendix A
Page 71 Agenda Item 8



This consists of the  
following parts:

* Part 1: Introduction 

 Part 2: Parking Enforcement Background

* Part 3: Aims and Objectives

* Part 4: Dartford Borough Council  

 Parking Services Team

* Part 5: Higher and Lower penalty charges

* Part 6: Challenge, formal representation  

 and Appeal

* Part 7: Car Parks

* Part 8: Permit Parking Zones

* Part 9: Blue Badge Use and abuse

* Part 10: Parking across dropped kerbs

* Part 11: Performance audits

* Part 12: New Technology and the digital future

* Part 13: Dissatisfaction and Complaints

* Part 14: Penalty Charge Notices issued  

 across the borough

* Part 15: Parking Services Income  

 (Not including Penalty Charge Notice income)

* Financial Position  

 

Page 72Agenda Item 8



I N T R O D U C T I O N
Welcome to the Dartford Borough Council (DBC) Parking Services Report. 

The Council is required to publish this information in accordance with Part 6 of the Traffic Management  
Act 2004. In addition, this report ensures that the Council complies with The Secretary of State’s Statutory  
Guidance to Local Authorities on the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions and the Local  
Government Transparency Code 2015.

This report summarises the parking and traffic enforcement responsibilities conducted by the Council from 
April 2018 through to March 2020. It also provides details of activities and related financial information. 

Dartford has an enforcement policy to try to balance the needs of all road users, at a time when demands 
continue to increase. The key objective is to appropriately address the needs of residents, visitors,  
businesses and their deliveries, customers and access for disabled people, thereby contributing to the  
economic growth and success of the boroughs’ road and transport network.  

It is important to bear in mind why the borough manages parking and traffic in the first place. Demand for 
parking in Dartford outstrips the supply of kerb space available and the Council seeks to maintain an active 
balance between the different demands.  

Enforcement is conducted both on and off-street by DBC Parking Services’ Civil Enforcement Officers  
(CEOs). These officers actively patrol and enforce parking restrictions, supporting traffic management  
and safety responsibilities imposed on local authorities by legislation.  Patrolling is directed towards  
strategically important routes, areas of high contravention, sensitive locations and, in many cases, in  
response to public demand.

This also needs to be balanced with the duty the Council has to keep traffic moving, avoiding unsafe and 
obstructive parking and making sure there is good access for pedestrians, cyclists, buses and other vehicles.

Enforcement of parking restrictions is approached in a fair and reasonable manner across the borough.  
The Parking Services team deal appropriately with representations from the public against the Penalty  
Charge Notices (PCNs) to ensure that all the circumstances are fully considered on a case by case basis.  

We are committed toward the transparency of our Parking Services and enforcement delivery.  
This report provides an extensive record of activities during the April 2018 to March 2020 period and  
explains how the service is managed and aims to develop an understanding and acceptance of why  
enforcement activity takes place.

Despite recent challenges, the year ahead will see the Service continuing to look at how it can further  
improve services through making best use of new technologies and campaigns  to encourage people  
to park safely and lawfully.

Page 73 Agenda Item 8



We are always looking at new initiatives and projects to improve the service that we provide.  
The management of the service can be contacted as follows:

·   Mark Salisbury, Enforcement & Regulatory Services Manager – mark.salisbury@ dartford.gov.uk 

·   Richard Cherry, Enforcement Manager - Richard.Cherry@dartford.gov.uk

·   Martin Smith, Parking Services Supervisor – Martin.Smith@dartford.gov.uk

·   Daniel Barwick, Senior Notice Processing Officer - Daniel.Barwick@dartford.gov.uk 

·   Lukman Agboola, Principal Transport Planner - Lukman.Agboola@dartford.gov.uk 

2. Parking Enforcement Background
The legislative framework for local authorities to carry out parking enforcement changed on 31 March 2008  
when Part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004, replaced parts of the Road Traffic Act 1991.

Parking restrictions are introduced through a legal order known as a ‘Traffic Regulation Order’. Road  
markings and signs provide information to motorists of the restrictions. Where a vehicle is parked in breach  
of a restriction, a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN), can be issued by a Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO).  
These officers are employed by the council and have designated powers to deal with parking matters  
and contraventions.

3. Aims and Objectives
Dartford Borough Council is responsible for the enforcement of on- street parking across the borough and  
selected off-street parking facilities. Enforcement is carried out by Dartford Borough Council Civil Enforcement  
Officers to ensure that the number of parking spaces are shared fairly and safely between residents, businesses 
and visitors. The Council is also responsible for issuing a variety of parking restriction exemption permits or  
certificates within the borough.

The aims of Dartford Borough Council Parking Services team are:

•    To ensure that the public highway can be used by all and that available parking space is shared between        
     competing demands, such as residents, businesses and visitors through regulation and pricing.

•    To maintain public safety on the public highway and within the borough’s off-street parking areas            
     (public car parks).

•    To ensure that traffic is able to flow through the borough freely.

•    To provide accessible parking for the disabled and elderly.

•    To monitor parking demand from residents, businesses, visitors, etc., and provide adequate parking          
     facilities for all.

•    To maintain public, statutory and commercial access to services and amenities.

•    To provide a fair and consistent civil parking enforcement service.

•    Cover the costs of enforcement, including parking restriction signs and lines, from proportionate               
     Penalty Charge Notice income.

•    Provide a clear understanding of the Parking Service and an improved public facing role  
     for Civil Enforcement Officers who will act as ambassadors on behalf of the Council.

Page 74Agenda Item 8

mailto:mark.salisbury%40%20dartford.gov.uk%20?subject=contact%20email
mailto:Richard.Cherry%40dartford.gov.uk?subject=contact%20email
mailto:Martin.Smith%40dartford.gov.uk?subject=contact%20email
mailto:Daniel.Barwick%40dartford.gov.uk?subject=contact%20email
mailto:Lukman.Agboola%40dartford.gov.uk%20?subject=contact%20email


4. Dartford Borough Council Parking Services Team
Enforcement Manager:
Responsible for Parking Enforcement, Environmental Enforcement and Litter Enforcement activity.  
Manages the Parking Services Supervisor and oversees the management of the councils parking procedures  
and legislation from the issuing of PCNs through to recovery of monies owed to the authority through either  
Adjudication services or a bailiff company. Is a contact point for Council Members enquires and the coordination 
of any public enquires.

The Principal Transport Planner
Provides overview and professional advice to Council Members and DBC Senior Officers on transport strategy, 
transport policy and strategic transport projects. Provides a professional transport input to planning and  
development matters, including development management and planning policy,  
including major development.

Provides strategic liaison between the Council and key transport providers. Leads on the strategy and  
implementation of parking management in the Borough and provides the expertise for Traffic Order  
Implementation. Maintains and consolidates existing\Traffic Regulation Orders and introduces new Orders as 
necessary for on and off-street parking management.

Assesses and prepares schemes for traffic and parking management with consideration for the administration  
of Civil Parking Enforcement.

The Parking Services Supervisor
This Parking services Supervisor is responsible for the officers patrolling the kerb-space management regulations 
and the Notice Processing Team, Ensures compliance with the relevant traffic regulation orders associated with 
metered on-street, off-street parking and waiting restrictions and oversees the processing of Penalty Charge  
Notices and Car park income to the council. Supervises the day-to-day operation of all Parking Services officers.

Is the first point of contact in relation to complaints, suggestions or any issues associated with Parking Services 
from Council Members, Schools, other agencies and the public.

Manages parking dispensation and the suspension of parking places in liaison with external suppliers, contractors 
and day to day maintenance activities. Arranges for repairs of the Council’s Pay and Display parking terminals.

The role supports the Principal Transport Planner in the monitoring of TRO installations ensuring compliance with 
the Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions (TSRGD) and the physical installation of the Council’s TROs for 
kerb-space management that ‘balance parking demand’.  
Also responsible for strategic and operational enforcement activities and the element of kerb-space management 
which balances parking demand. This means that the Supervisor must find the right balance of managing service 
delivery and advising on and installing kerb-space management schemes whilst providing support and advice on 
parking enforcement.

The role, involves a close working liaison and relationship with the Principal Transport Planner and Kent County 
Council (KCC) Highways.

Page 75 Agenda Item 8



The Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs)
Dartford Borough Council Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) are salaried and are not part of any incentive scheme. 
Their only enforcement requirement is to ensure that any Penalty Charge Notice is issued correctly and that all the 
supporting evidence (including photographs) is gathered and recorded.  

All officers are trained to NVQ II in Civil Parking Enforcement and Kent Police approved under the Community  
Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS). CEOs patrol the kerb-space management regulations in the borough  
ensuring drivers comply with them so other highway users are not delayed, endangered or inconvenienced  
unnecessarily. In the course of patrolling, they offer advice in the form of local knowledge on where and how to 
park in accordance with regulations. The CEOs also collect intelligence to assist local businesses and residents in 
the prevention of crime and provide a traffic management and support role at events such as Remembrance  
Parades, Dartford Festival and Dartford’s Christmas lights switch on.

Their duties include:

Dealing with parking contraventions / unauthorised parking under the Traffic Management Act 2004.

Helping the public and acting as first point of contact on minor parking enquires, enforcement matters, providing 
directions or assisting with local knowledge. 

Inspecting and checking pay and display machines and obtaining test tickets before issuing a PCN. 

If the machine is found to be out of order, the CEO must report it and if possible put a note on the machine.  
CEOs should only issue a PCN if there is an alternative machine in working order nearby that covers the same 
parking places. 

Checking and reporting to defective signs and road markings. 

This includes signs that are obscured, damaged or deliberately spun around, broken or faded road markings.  
Defective or missing signs or lines may make the traffic regulation order invalid, in which case CEOs should not 
issue a PCN.

Page 76Agenda Item 8



 
Safety Camera Vehicle: 
The Traffic Management Act introduced regulations that allow for enforcement through an approved camera 
device in areas that are difficult or sensitive.

In 2016, the Council introduced a safety camera vehicle that is used to enforce contraventions of waiting  
restrictions such as school zigzag markings. 

The primary objective of the camera enforcement system is to ensure the safe and efficient operation of the road 
network by deterring motorists from breaking road traffic restrictions and detecting those that do.  
School parking contravention issues remains a key and pivotal element of the Safety Camera Vehicle function.     

Issuing warning notices (as was the case throughout the COVID 19 lockdown period in 2020).

Providing witness statements to line the manager about any incidents that may have caused obstructions, threats 
or assault.

Appearing before a parking adjudicator. 

Whilst this is not a frequent occurrence, a motorist can request a CEO to attend their hearing.

Page 77 Agenda Item 8



Body Camera usage / footage:  
CEOs wear state of the art ‘body cameras’ to record real time  
evidence when they find themselves in a difficult or challenging 
 situation. These have been used on several occasions in  
moderating aggressive behaviour of some individuals,  
as well as addressing complaints about allegations  
of inappropriate actions by the officers themselves. 

Partnership working
During their patrols, CEOs regularly identify vehicles that appear 
 to be abandoned, untaxed or uninsured. These vehicles can  
cause frustration as they take up valuable parking spaces  
as well as presenting a potential danger to the local community.  
As part of their routine duties, the Officers will note the details 
 of any vehicles presenting a cause for concern carry out some  
basic checks on their return to their office and, as appropriate,  
report the issue to the relevant enforcement agency.  
This initiative results in some referrals being made to other  
district councils, Kent Police and the Driver and Vehicle  
Licensing Agency.

The Council’s CEOs have a highly visible presence across  
the borough. During their shifts, Officers will frequently 
provide directions to local services, report crimes and assist 
 other agencies including the emergency services and environmental enforcement officers.

During the Covid 19 public health emergency, car park charges were suspended and parking restrictions relaxed. 
DBC Civil Enforcement Officers remained active, delivering food aid and prescription assistance  
to vulnerable persons in the community.

Parking exemptions for carrying out exceptional duties:

Due to the nature of the work carried out by CEOs, they may have to park in restricted areas in certain  
circumstances. In addition, and in accordance with dispensations and waivers, those vehicles used to carry out 
statutory duties on behalf of the Local Authority whilst performing a specific role on behalf of DBC,  
are exempt from the regulation around waiting, resident’s bays and all council car parks.

Regardless of the above exemption, it is not permitted for Civil Enforcement Officers (or any other exempted  
type of vehicle) to be parked in a manner which is dangerous or causes an obstruction to any other road users.  
The exception only applies when the vehicle is being used to undertake statutory duties.  
Should anyone consider that the exemption is not being used correctly, the misuse should be reported  
to DBC by contacting either DBC Customer Services, the DBC Council Website and / or DBC Parking Services  
- parking.services@dartford.gov.uk   

Page 78Agenda Item 8

mailto:parking.services%40dartford.gov.uk?subject=contact%20us


The Senior Notice Processing Officer
This Supervisor is responsible for all of the administrative ‘permit issue’ and legislative ‘parking fine’ processes.  
The role requires the provision of advice on parking and inconsiderate parking matters and monitors and  
manages the processing of parking fines in accordance with legislative requirements.

The Notice Processing (NP) Officers
These officers issue parking permits and process Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs also known as parking fines).  
Officers are trained to NVQ III in Notice Processing and have considerable knowledge, which enables them to 
advise those enquiring about parking and highway related issues. They make decisions on cases, communicating 
fairly and professionally with customers. They work within all relevant legislation and codes of practice and issue 
all parking permits and dispensations.

They perform their role using the newly upgraded Notice Processing Software, ‘Parking 3Sixty’, a system that  
supports the back office functionality.

The Notice Processing Officers, are responsible for investigating cases and providing a reasoned response to the 
motorist, having sufficient information and knowledge to evaluate cases.

This includes:
•       Signs and lines

•       Contraventions and unauthorised events

•        Traffic orders

The team can advise on:

•       The Council’s car parks – locations, their regulations and payment options;

•       Highways England roads;

•       Kent Police force’s highway responsibilities;

•       Kent County Council’s highway responsibilities;

•       The Councils’ supporting role for highways management;

•       The process by which the borough’s residents and businesses can request  
         highway management regulations;

•        The eligibility and process for Resident Permit issue; and

•        The legislative process for the processing of ‘parking fines’.

At the very least, these officers will point enquirers in the right direction for the information they seek.

Page 79 Agenda Item 8



5. Higher and Lower Penalty Charge Notices:  
Parking Services enforce two different rates of penalty charge: £70 and £50, with more serious contraventions 
attracting the greater penalty charge. The Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA04) lists what the parking  
contraventions are and the penalty charge rate applicable to each.  
The following are examples:- Serious – stopping where prohibited, waiting on single or double yellow lines.  
In general, these contraventions could result in obstruction or danger to other road users.

Less serious – overstaying the time purchased, not displaying a valid pay and display ticket, not parking correctly 
within a parking bay or space, etc.

In general, these contraventions would not result in obstruction or danger and may be the result of a motorist’s 
oversight, forgetting to correctly display a valid pay and display ticket, or not returning to their vehicle before 
their ticket expires.

The higher and lower categories are considered fairer to motorists as they serve to ensure that those motorists 
who committed less serious contraventions are not charged at the same rate as those who caused obstruction  
or danger to others by committing the more serious contraventions.

If a driver does not contest a PCN and pays it within 14 days, the penalty charge is reduced by half to £35 and  
£25 respectively.

Road markings (such as yellow lines, loading bays, bus stops and residents zones) indicate that a restriction a 
pplies and signs nearby will always explain what the restriction is. If these restrictions are breached, a  
contravention has occurred and, if observed by a CEO, a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) will be issued.  

6. Challenge, Formal Representation and Appeal:
All enforcement operations need a robust appeals process to ensure the customer’s case is dealt with fairly  
and reasonably and that all Notices served meet the requirements laid down by the TMA 2004.   
The NP team deals with PCNs from issue through to payment and, occasionally, recovery action by bailiff.

Every driver who receives a PCN has a right of appeal if they feel there is a justifiable and genuine reason for not 
paying. The appeal is considered by Dartford Borough Council at the first informal stage. If the driver is not happy 
with the decision, they can then take their case to the Independent Traffic Adjudicators at the Traffic Penalty  
Tribunal (TPT). This formal process is conducted according to national guidelines.

The decision of the Independent Traffic Adjudicators is final. Often the adjudicators will issue advice to local  
councils on how matters should be dealt with in the future and all authorities are obliged to consider that advice. 
This could be, for example, to relocate the signs informing drivers of parking restrictions.

The Dartford Borough Council Parking Services team have a duty to consider all aspects of a case.  
The Secretary of State guidance states that, even when a clear contravention has occurred, the Council has  
discretionary power to cancel a Penalty Charge Notice, and this duty is adhered to - “under general principles  
of public law, authorities have a duty to act fairly and proportionately and are encouraged to exercise discretion 
sensibly and reasonably and with due regard to the public interest”.  
This exercise of discretion is approached objectively and without regard to any financial interest  
(in the penalty or decisions) that may have been taken at an earlier stage.  

Although the Parking Services team is primarily involved with Civil Parking Enforcement, it does much more, such 
as providing supporting roles at community events and providing advice on where best to park one’s car when 
attending those events. This illustrates that delivering parking services in the Borough of Dartford is about more 
than merely enforcement.

Page 80Agenda Item 8



7. Car Parks
The council operates several public car parks throughout the borough. These car parks tend to be concentrated in 
the areas of greatest demand, such as in or around Dartford town centre, but there is also a significant provision 
of non DBC operated car parks elsewhere. DBC also manage the Grove Car Park on behalf of Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe Town Council.

The conditions of use vary depending on where the car park is situated. Those conditions are indicated on notice 
boards situated at each location, including when the car park may be used and which vehicles may park there. 
The conditions and charges can change from time to time, so it is important that all drivers check the boards each 
time they visit. 

Where charges apply, the location of the Terminals / Pay and Display machine is usually indicated by the  
presence of  “Pay Here” signage. As an alternative to paying with cash and displaying a ticket in the traditional way, 
for a small administration fee it is also possible to pay the parking charge electronically in most of our car parks 
using the RINGO mobile App. Card payments can also be made. 

Although there have been some changes in car park layouts over the last five years, capacities and demand have 
remained roughly the same and there remains a mix of short stay and long stay parking provision in and around 
the town centre both on and off street. It is felt that there is ample car parking provision for Dartford’s town centre 
and that user’s favour specific parking places. 

Throughout the last 2 years, work carried out around the Dartford Town Centre Regeneration Project, saw the  
removal of both the Central and Old Market Street (behind Iceland) car parks, with the addition of the new car 
park at Highfield Road, South.

The Acacia renovation project will see the addition of a number of new and additional parking spaces and will 
increase parking capacity for Dartford Town Centre. This will also include eight (8) new high speed Electric Vehicle 
(EV) Charging Points.

It is anticipated that the entire Acacia site will re-open by Spring 2021

Page 81 Agenda Item 8



The parking tariffs for all the public parking areas have been examined and it appears that DBC car park tariffs  
are comparable to other privately administered parking areas within the borough, with the exception of Prospect  
Place, which is free for the first two hours of parking and Priory surface car park that starts at £1.50 for the first 
hour. This offers good value to local residents and visitors to the borough.  
There are also seven hundred and twenty-seven limited waiting and uncontrolled (on-street) free general use 
parking spaces which are being used by drivers; this excludes Prospect Place car park which adds  
another six hundred and forty free parking spaces for stays less than two hours.

In the Council’s public car parks, Penalty Charge Notices may be issued if there is a failure to pay the correct 
amount at a pay and display ticket machine or for parking in a space for longer than permitted.  
Drivers are responsible for making sure that their vehicles are parked correctly and not causing any obstructions.  
If vehicles are parked correctly, they should not be issued with a Penalty Charge Notice.

In addition to those in Acacia Car Park, it is anticipated that new electric vehicle charging points will be installed 
within Dartford Borough Council Car Parks in Spring 2021.

The aim is to remove barriers to electric vehicle uptake in the borough, while also helping to improve air quality. 

2018/19 saw the completion of a project to replace and upgrade all of the boroughs pay-and-display ticket  
machines. The benefits of this are becoming apparent with more payment choices, lower maintenance costs and 
the reduction of criminal damage and theft.

The service continues to work with traders, Council Members and the DBC Town Centre Manager, encouraging 
people to come to Dartford, promoting the value of Dartford Car Parks compared to private operators and  
reviewing how advertising in car parks and on tickets can promote businesses throughout the town.  
Car park charges are reviewed annually but, once again, there have been no increases.  
Most Dartford Borough Council car parks offer free parking between 8pm and 8am. 

As well as easing congestion and managing demand for space, innovative approaches to enforcement  
are contributing to safer roads, with CEOs dedicated to patrolling outside schools (am / pm). 
This helps to protect schoolchildren from the dangers posed by inconsiderate drivers.

Page 82Agenda Item 8



8. Permit Parking Zones
The council operates a number of residents’ parking schemes in the borough. There is a general presumption that 
a vehicle legally on the road may park on any unrestricted public road, provided no obstruction is being caused. 
Permit parking schemes are, therefore, only introduced where the Council considers that there is an exceptional 
parking issue in connection with a significant “parking generator”, such as concentrations of high employment or 
in areas surrounding hospitals, transport hubs and sporting arenas or other attractions.

When restrictions within a residents’ parking zone are in force, any vehicle parking within the zone, which is not 
exempt (such as an operational emergency services vehicle), must display a valid permit in order to park within 
the zone. Failure to do so may result in the issue of a Penalty Charge Notice. Blue (disabled) badges are not valid 
for use in these circumstances. The following types of permit are valid for use in residents’ parking zones:

• A resident permit showing that it is valid for use in that zone;

• A visitor scratch card, with the date/time correctly showing, valid in that zone;

The days and times when restrictions apply can vary from zone to zone, although most of them tend to operate 
on weekdays between 9.00am and 6.00pm to deal with commuter-related parking issues.  
The permit’s conditions of use are set out on the application form and accompanying notes. 

Restrictions apply on Bank Holidays or other public holidays, unless the signs within each zone show otherwise.

The 2018/2019 and 2019/2020 financial years saw a number of major developments. A number of new parking 
zones were introduced following consultation with residents. The number of resident parking permits on issue 
increased because of these additional zones. Meanwhile, the number of Penalty Charge Notices issued across the 
borough, when considered against those issued in 2017/18, increased by 16% 2018/19. In 2019/20 PCNs issued 
are shown for a 10-month period due to COVID 19 restrictions. In normal circumstances, this would have seen an 
increase of approximately 15% (see Penalty Charge Notice Table below).

Page 83 Agenda Item 8



9. Blue Badge use and abuse
In areas of high demand, or in response to acute local need, the council operates a number of dedicated on  
street disabled bays within the borough. These bays may only be used by vehicles that are clearly and correctly 
displaying a valid Blue Badge, which is being used in accordance with the rules of the Blue Badge Scheme.

If the vehicle is not being driven by the badge holder, the badge holder must be personally present during the 
journey. It cannot, for example, be used by someone other than the badge holder to pick up a prescription or go 
shopping for the badge holder.

In some busier areas, where space is limited, it is necessary for blue badge holders and goods vehicles to share  
the bays by allowing each group access at different times. The signs will show who can use the bays at what times.

Vehicles clearly and correctly displaying a valid Blue Badge and a correctly set time clock can also park on  
double or single yellow lines provided that they are not causing an obstruction and that no other parking  
restriction prevents them from doing so. For example, blue badges cannot be used where a loading ban is in 
force, or in bays reserved for other types of vehicle (such as goods vehicles, bus stops, residents, etc.).  
More detailed information on where blue badges may and may not be used is provided on the KCC website and 
in the guidance booklet issued by the Government sent out with each blue badge issued.

The CEO Team continues to issue Penalty Charge Notices relating to the misuse of Blue Badges and reports  
instances of abuse of the process to the KCC Blue Badge Team. The Service also works in partnership with a 
number of organisations representing the interests of disabled persons to assist in tackling the issue of Blue 
Badge abuse for the benefit of the wider community.

DBC also makes good provision in its car parks for Blue Badge holders. The ongoing works to the Acacia estate will 
increase the number of disabled parking places within its car parks and take overall provision in the town centre 
area to circa 50.

10. Parking across dropped kerbs
DBC CEOs issue Penalty Charge Notices to vehicles identified as parking across dropped kerbs. The legislation 
applies to dropped kerbs that have been lowered to the level of the carriageway, for example, pedestrian crossing 
points, with tactile slabs on the pavement. It also applies to crossing points denoted by white keep clear bars and 
others without additional markings where the footway has been lowered to the level of the carriageway and to 
cycle tracks that have been lowered to the level of the carriageway or where the carriageway has been raised to 
the level of the footway, cycle track or verge. This does not apply to private driveways. Vehicles parking in this 
manner can impede access for the blind and partially sighted and other disabled people. They can also create 
significant inconvenience for those using wheelchairs, mobility scooters, prams and pushchairs.

Although currently no implementation date is available nationally, consultation is due to take place around  
‘pavement parking enforcement’ and a change in current legislation, allowing enforcement to be carried out by 
CEOs. Currently, all enforcement against pavement parking remains with the Police Service. 

Page 84Agenda Item 8



11. Performance audits
In April 2018 and April 2019 DBC Parking Services was audited by the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency.  
In instances where the recipient of a Penalty Charge Notice does not pay or challenge, the Council applies to the 
DVLA for details of the registered keeper of the vehicle. These audits are conducted to ensure that authorities are 
accessing and using vehicle keeper details in a correct and lawful manner and have appropriate information  
security measures in place. On each occasion DBC Parking Services overall audit rating was green, the highest 
possible attainable, and the reports commented that a “high level of compliance was demonstrated”. The Service 
has been audited by the DVLA on three separate occasions since March 2017 and on each occasion a green rating 
has been achieved. DBC were due to be audited in April 2020, although this is now on hold due to the public 
health emergency.

In addition, the Service was audited by the Council’s Internal Audit Team during 2018 and 2019.  
The audit was conducted to provide assurance over management’s arrangements for governance, risk  
management and internal control in relation to policies and procedures. The overall audit rating was ‘a good level 
of assurance’, which has been reported to the Council’s elected Members.

12. New Technology and the digital future
As more people use online services in their everyday lives, the Council is moving to make parking services  
available online. We are looking at virtual resident and visitor permits and we will consider how we can, utilising 
new technology such as parking apps, provide journey planning information to people planning to visit  
Dartford (RINGO app). However, not everyone has access to a computer, so traditional methods to access  
services are still available.

13. Complaints
DBC Parking Services Team will endeavour to deal appropriately with any matters brought to attention regarding 
dissatisfaction, representations and appeals in a timely and efficient manner. Complaints received by Parking  
Services where the correspondent was dissatisfied with the response to an informal complaint or enquiry will  
be progressed through the Council’s formal complaints procedure. An explanation of how to complain can be 
found on the DBC Website or alternatively by calling DBC Customer Services on 01322 343434 and requesting  
a complaint form.

Page 85 Agenda Item 8

mailto:https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/transport-and-streets/parking/pay-and-display-car-parks-and-on-street-pay-and-display-bays/parkmobile?subject=RINGO%20app


2018/19 2019/20

PCNs Issued (including Warning Notices) 12895 10985

Higher Rate Contraventions 10306 9404

Lower Rate Contraventions 2589 1581

Regulation 9 PCNs (Direct Issue) 12383 10359

Regulation 10 PCNs (Issued by Post) 512 626

PCNs Issued on-street 11604 10041

PCNs Issued off-street 1288 944

Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) Served (Outcome)

PCNs Paid 9073 7386

PCNs Paid at Discount rate 6887 5946

Charge Certificates Produced 2296 1783

Warrants Produce 1564 68

PCNs Cancelled/Written off 2817 1481

Appeals to the Traffic Penalty Tribunal (TPT)

Appeals to the TPT 25 24

Cases Dismissed 8 7

Cases Allowed 17 10

Cases Not Contested 0 7

14. Penalty Charge Notices issued across the borough

Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) Served

Page 86Agenda Item 8



Parking Services Income  
(Not including Penalty Charge Notice income)

2018/19 2019/20

April £25,752 £32,100

May £32,336 £40,329

June £34,293 £29,194

July £35,650 £36,597

August £35,997 £22,695

September £28,713 £36,664

October £36,281 £13,766

November £33,716 £49,432

December £44,956 £29,613

January £29,246 £29,600

February £47,657 £20,276

March £32,112 £41,944

15. Parking Income

Page 87 Agenda Item 8



Financial Position

2018/19 2019/20

Income

On-street PCNs £420,078 £337,336

On-street PCNs £18,640 £23,355

On-street Pay & Display £112,646 £64,538

On-street Pay & Display £291,700 £294,058

Permits/Dispensations £46,298 £44,204

On-street Season Tickets £4,420 £2,929

On-street Season Tickets £9,034 £12,253

Miscellaneous £4,325 £1,145

Total Income £907,141 £779,817

Expenditure

On-street Direct Running Costs £53,815 £36,836

On-street Direct Running Costs £85,118 £89,739

Management/Support/Enforcement £677,085 £612,267

Total Expenditure £816,018 £738,841

Net Income £91,123 £40,976

Application of Surplus on Parking Account

Contribution towards the provision of outdoor recreational facilities at Central Park,  
Hesketh Park and other Open Spaces. 

Page 88Agenda Item 8



Enforcement and Regulatory Services

Page 89 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



                              

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
22 SEPTEMBER 2020 

CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 

GUIDANCE – PRIORITISING INVESTIGATION OF REPORTED 
PARKING ISSUES AND PARKING MANAGEMENT SCHEMES 

 

 
1. SUMMARY 

 

1.1 This report outlines the principles of a new guidance for prioritising reported 
parking issues in the borough for investigation and development of parking 
schemes to address identified problems. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
Joint Transportation Board 
 
2.1 That this report is considered and Cabinet advised accordingly. 
 
Cabinet 
 

2.2 That Cabinet is recommended to adopt the new guidance as part of the Council’s 
process for prioritising reported parking issues in the borough as outlined in 
paragraph 3.8 to this report. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The demand for schemes to address ongoing pressure on parking in the 
Borough is increasing particularly in and around Dartford Town Centre 
exacerbated by new developments. Currently, the Council introduces 
parking management schemes where there is strong pressure from local 
residents to implement a scheme. Prioritisation is normally based on 
order of Cabinet approval following promotion of a scheme by local ward 
Members. However, given the Council’s limited resources, this allows for 
two schemes a year on average. 

3.2. The Council is in the process of expanding the resources available for 
developing parking management schemes through recruitment. 
However, it is acknowledged that, due to the increasing demand for 
parking scheme to address reported issues from residents (the Council 
receives about two requests a month on average), a more robust 
approach to appraising parking issues and prioritising schemes for 
implementation is required in order to provide further clarity for residents 
and ward councillors. 

The Guidance  

3.3. The new guidance supports existing Cabinet approval protocols and 
applicable statutory requirements. It is aimed at providing residents and 

Page 91 Agenda Item 9



                              

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
22 SEPTEMBER 2020 

CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
stakeholder partners, such as Kent County Council (KCC) and Parish 
Councils, with clarity on the Council’s process as well as provide officers 
and ward councillors with a formalised and consistent approach for 
prioritising the investigation of reported parking issues and schemes. 
The guidance is attached as Appendix A to this report. 

3.4. The guidance outlines the end-to-end activities to be undertaken during 
the process. Figure 1 on page 2 of the guidance is the flow chart which 
shows the prioritisation and implementation process in stages. Stages 1 
to 4 highlight the actions / requirements during the initiation and 
prioritisation and Stages 5 to 7 identify activities to be undertaken once 
decision has been made to undertake detailed investigation of reported 
parking issues. The final three stages replicate a well-established 
process used by the Council. 

3.5. This guidance focusses on promoting a simple, clear and consistent 
appraisal approach to rank and prioritise reported parking issues based 
on the following factors: 

 Safety – Using empirical methods of identifying potential safety risks, 
Categories 1 and 2 on page 3 of the guidance document identifies 
the information required to justify whether there is a significant or 
moderate safety risk that may arise from reported parking issues. If 
an issue is identified to be of significant safety risk, the matter is 
referred to KCC as the highway authority responsible for addressing 
safety issues in Dartford. 

 Parking Issue – Categories 3 and 4 identified on pages 3 and 4 of 
the guidance document are used to assess the extent of the parking 
problem in terms of whether the issue is significant or limited in terms 
of impact on local residents looking at the level of parking 
displacement and when this occurs. 

 Level of support – Category 5 shown on page 4 of the guidance is 
used to gauge the level of support from local residents and ward 
councillors. This is a measure which already forms part of the existing 
protocol for progressing parking management schemes by the 
Council. 

 Evidence of parking issues within area of significant demand – 
The final Category 6 aims to confirm whether location of reported 
parking issue is close to attractions of significant parking demand 
such as shopping areas, stations / major bus terminals / schools or 
community facilities. 

3.6. The evidence-based table on pages 5 to 7 in the guidance document is 
used to collate the required information. Justification to prioritise the  
reported parking issue and include in the Council’s priority list is based 
on the ‘traffic lights system’ using the following ranking: 

 Level 1 Ranking – Review shows the majority of ‘Yes’ boxes is 
ticked in response to majority of the evidence-based questions. 

Page 92Agenda Item 9



                              

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
22 SEPTEMBER 2020 

CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
Reported parking issue will be included in the Council’s programme 
of Priority List for detailed investigation subject to sign off by relevant 
Cabinet Member. Timescale will be allocated accordingly. 

 Level 2 Ranking – Based on highest number of ‘Red’ ticked in 
response to the evidence-based questions. Reported parking issue 
will be included in the Council’s programme of Priority List for detailed 
investigation subject to sign off by relevant Cabinet Member. Time 
scale will be allocated accordingly. 

3.7. Officers have been working with the Cabinet Member to develop the 
guidance and are also engaging with Stone House ward councillors as 
well as the local school (Brent School) to run a pilot using the guidance 
based on recently reported parking and safety issues in St John’s Road. 
The pilot will run for the next three months with the aim of testing the 
guidance and whether any improvements could be identified. KCC have 
been consulted on the guidance and are satisfied that it is in line with 
their policy.  

3.8. Members are recommended to approve the adoption of the guidance as 
part of the Council’s process for prioritising reported parking issues for 
investigation subject to any agreed amendments to the guidance from 
the outcome of the pilot referred to in paragraph 3.7 of this report. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
ET4 – Ensure a high quality street scene. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications None. 

Legal Implications None. 

Staffing Implications None. 

Administrative 
Implications 

None. 

Risk Assessment None 

 
 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Prioritising the investigation and implementation of 
Parking Management Schemes - Guidance 

Page 93 Agenda Item 9



                              

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
22 SEPTEMBER 2020 

CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Informatio

n 
Category 

 
 22/9/20 Full name: 

Lukman Agboola 
Principal Transport 
Planner 
(01322) 343410 

Planning 
Services, 
Regeneration 

N/A 

 

Page 94Agenda Item 9



Appendix A - Priority List of Parking Management Schemes Dartford Borough Council - Development Management Created by LA - September 2019, updated 17/08/2020

Parking Management Schemes - LA Projects
Progress Summary
Notes

1. Current Staff Resource - 30% of Principal Transport Planner's s (about 1.5 days a week) based on 2 parking schemes a year. 

3. Project subject to delay due to implication of COVID - 19 specifically KCC's suspension of TROs process until 20th April 2020. Robin confirmed that Dartford Orders are being consolidated and updating existing ParkMap system so progression of all on-street TRO scheme still on hold - Confirmed 20/4/20
4. Parkman Training 20th and 21st August. Start up TRO parking schemes end of August 2020.

Actions
Action 
Owners Duration Priority

# Scheme Location Wards / Councillors Proposal Justification

Existing 
layout / Plan 
available

Proposal 
Mapped

Draft 
Report

Cabinet 
Advisory 
panel JTB Cabinet ConsultationResult of Consultation TRO Start End (Months)

1 Shepherds lane 1a to 59

1. West Hill - Councillor Julie 
A Ozog                                      
2. West Hill - Councillor 
Denzil J Reynolds                                                        
3. West Hill - Councillor Drew 
Swinerd

An amendment to existing 
scheme o/s 1a to 59 with 
increased hours of operation 
from Mon to Fri 9.30am to 4pm. 
Options include:                          
1) Extend only the hours of 
operation e.g. 9.30am to 8pm.                                                         
2) Extend only the hours of 
operation e.g. Monday to 
Saturday (six days per week) or 
Monday to Sunday (seven days 
per week)                                     
3) Entend both the days of 
operations and hours of day eg. 
Monday to Saturday or Monday 
to Sunday and 9am to 8 pm.                                        
4) Do not change the scheme's 
hours of operation i.e., leave as 
Monday to Friday 9am to 4pm

Cabinet approval - 31st October 2019. Reported 
parking problems from some residents linving in 
Shepherds Lane opposite the boys grammar 
that those visiting the school premises beyond 
the school day are reducing the opportunity of 
residents to park close to their homes.

Yes see 
P:\TRO\2018 
Consolidation 
order work No 11/10/2019

02/12/19 
7pm

3/12/19 
7pm

5/12/19 
7pm

Yes - 
Finished 
17/3/19

Consultation in March 2019 / 
update consultation with local 
Ward Councillors in August 2019                              
1. No clear majority for potential 
change.                                                 
2. 47% of all households want an 
extension scheme into the 
weekend, 42.9% of respondents 
supported 7 day scheme and 
21.4% supported 6 day scheme. 
Preference for 7 day scheme 
overall. 34.4% of households and 
42.3% of respondents objected 
to the proposals.                                             
3. On hold - Subject to KCC 
currenting consolidating the 
Dartford Orders.  Existing 
ParkMap version is out of date 
and new data will be on KCC 
ParkMap system. Once 
consolidation is completed, KCC 
to advise on when and how to 
access the system. Training will 
follow once past the current 
national situation.

Yes

1. Lewis Boudville (LB) sent email 25/2/19 at 16:45 - To inform 
Councillors about starting the process for parking management 
consultations.                                                                                                        
2. LB confirmed by email 1/3/19 at 13:18 - Set up necessary, amended 
dates in letters and make web page live and deliver amended letters.                                                                                     
3. Lewis Boudville sent email 19/3/19 - Advised Councillors that 
consultations finished Sunday at 17/3/19 at 23.59, results reviewed with 
attached summaries for each scheme.                                                                                        
4. LA sent out email dated 23/8/19 to Councillors re Consultation update 
and recommendations identified. Deadline for comments back from 
Councillors . Comment received from Cllr Drew Swinerd on 25/9/19 
supporting approach on Shepherd's Lane                                                          
5. Cabinet report signed off by TR 1/10/19. SG commments received 
14/10/19 and updated same day accordingly.                                                            
6. Letter re outcome of Cabinet decision sent to residents 18/11/19. To 
review responses.                                                                                              
7. To make draft order (produce map of proposal, produce draft order in 
MappInfo, produce draft order documentation, publish draft order over 6 
weeks and review results of consultation).                                     LA Aug-19 Dec-20 14 1

2
Highfield Road 
South

Highfield Road 
South

1. Princes - Councillor Ricky 
Jones                                       
2. Princes - Councillor Mrs 
Rebecca F Storey                         

Amendment to Car Park 
operating hours to Monday to 
Saturday inclusive 8am to 
4.30pm and possible resident's 
parking scheme

Cabinet approval of review of charging regime - 
5th September 2019.

Fees reviewed 
from 1 April 
2018 and new 
Order 'Off 
Street Parking 
Places Order 
2018'. 
Amended 
operating 
hours of the 
off-street  car 
parks in the 
town centre 
area from 
0800-18.30 to 
0800 to 20.00. 
Subsequently 
included 
former 
informal car 
park at 
Highfield Road 
(South). No N/A 02/12/2019 03/12/2019 20/01/2020

Engageme
nt with 
Officers 
and 
consultatio
n TBC Yes

1. Amend existing off-street parking Order accordingly by April 2020 - 
Draft Order produced and sent out for initial comments - 11/3/20.                         
2. Published draft Order 19/3/20, however the impact of COVID 19 has 
put progress on hold.                                                                                                      
3. Proposed date for Order to come into operation - previously scheduled 
for 24/4/20 but now agreed with Sheri Green on 15/4/20 to put on hold 
until situation returns to normal. Also Robin of KCC confirmed on 20/4/20 
that Dartford Orders are being conslidated and ParkMAP cannot be used 
for now. Will confirm when ready with associated training.                                                                                                           
4. Site surveys of Spring Vale & Highfield Road South undertaken 
17/9/19 and fedback to Councillor Shippam 26/2/20. Met with Cllrs 
Shippam & Richard Wells re possible residents parking permit 
scheme on 17/3/20.  Both Councillors agreed to review the the scale of 
the problem and understand residents'  support for a scheme. Fedback to 
Councillors on 19/3/20 about Lidl money of £5000 available for proposed 
CPZ in Gordon Road and Spring Vale South. Both were consulted on in 
Jan 2016 and there was no majority support for a scheme in Spring Vale 
South but a scheme was implemented in Gordon Road.                                                                                                 
5.  Martin S undertook site surveys of level of usage before 9am and 
after 4pm and found that with the maximum amount of traffic at home 
during this period there is still little or no usage of the car park thus 
indicating sufficient parking spaces on-street for all residents. 
Recommended that the altering of operating hours will have little effect 
overall in the long term. Accordingly, Cllrs Shippam & Wells as well 
as Sheri Green were happy to support recommendations not to 
consider residents parking scheme at this stage.                                             

LA + 
Martin 
Smith Sep-19 Jun-20 10 1

3
Spring Vale Pay & 
Display Car Parks

Spring Vale Pay & 
Display Car Parks

1. Town - Councillor Chris 
Shippam                                     
2. Town - Councillor Richard 
Wells                             

Amendment to Car Park 
operating hours to Monday to 
Saturday inclusive 8am to 
6.30pm and possible resident's 
parking scheme

Cabinet approval of the review of charging 
regime - 5th September 2019 - A petition 
received by JTB on 11th June 2019 & Cabinet 
meeting of 5th September 2019 with deputation 
from local residents and users of Gurdwara 
requesting that the Council shorten hours of 
operation of the Highfield Road (Spring Vale car 
park back to 18.30 hours as the extended hours 
had significant impacted on users and car park 
now severely underused during the evenings. 
JTB had asked for detailed usage levels. 
Findings show no significant factor affecting 
usage level but users were reluctant to pay to 
use the car park after 18.30.

Same as 
above in 
Highfield Road No N/A 02/12/2019 03/12/2019 20/01/2020

Engageme
nt with 
Officers 
and 
consultatio
n TBC Yes On hold: Same comments as above in Highfield Road

LA + 
Martin 
Smith Sep-19 Jun-20 10 1

4 The Grove The Grove Car Park

                                                           
1. Newtown Councillor Laura 
Edie                                              
2. Newton Councillor Adrian 
Oakley-Dow   

Amendment to Car Park 
operating hours to Monday to 
Friday inclusive 8am to 6.00pm 

As per fees and charges agreed as The 
Council's Budget approval on 24th Feberuary 
2020.

Fees reviewed 
from 1 April 
2018 and new 
Order 'Off 
Street Parking 
Places Order 
2018'. . N/A N/A TBC TBC 24/02/2020 Yes On hold: Same comments as above in Highfield Road LA Sep-19 Jun-20 10 1

5

Dartford Town 
Centre - Car 
Parking Levy

Dartford Town 
Centre

1. West Hill - Councillor Julie 
A Ozog                                       
2. West Hill - Councillor 
Denzil J Reynolds                                                        
3. West Hill - Councillor Drew 
Swinerd                                   
4. Town - Councillor Chris 
Shippam                                                                    
5. Town Councillor Richard 
Wells                                         
6. Newtown Councillor Laura 
Edie                                          
7. Newton Councillor Adrian 
Oakley-Dow   

Identify and implement a 
common parking area for a 
number of developments in 
DTC.

Develop a consistent policy and guidance to 
support potential significant level of major 
developments in Dartford over the next 15 
years. No No TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC Yes

1. Project delay from March 2020 due to impact of COVID-19.                                                      
2. Review existing information of off street parking in Dartford Town 
Centre i.e., identify spaces or blocks of available parking spaces 
(mapping - Site visits re car park locations and available spaces ongoing) 
- May / June 2020.                                                                                            
3. Produce scoping brief i.e., aims, stakeholders, inputs, outputs, 
outcomes and milestones - June 2020.                                                                                                      
4. Present proposal to Senior Managers & Cabinet - Aug / Sept 2020. LA / TS Jan-20 Jan-22 24 1

      2. Closed out projects in grey.

Timescale

1 of 2

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 9



Appendix A - Priority List of Parking Management Schemes Dartford Borough Council - Development Management Created by LA - September 2019, updated 17/08/2020

Actions
Action 
Owners Duration Priority

# Scheme Location Wards / Councillors Proposal Justification

Existing 
layout / Plan 
available

Proposal 
Mapped

Draft 
Report

Cabinet 
Advisory 
panel JTB Cabinet ConsultationResult of Consultation TRO Start End (Months)

Timescale

6 Bow Arrow Lane
Between Cotton 
Lane and A282

1. Stone House - Councillor 
Kelly Grehan                                      
2. Stone House - Councillor 
Tom Oliver                                                           
3. Newtown Councillor Laura 
Edie                                          
4. Newton Councillor Adrian 
Oakley-Dow   

Possible controlled parking 
zone.

Inconsiderate parking along the road and at 
junctions. Safety concerns raised by residents 
with Councillor Tom Oliver. TBC No TBC TBC No TBC TBC Yes

1. Met Councillors Jeremy Kite and Tom Oliver on 25/2/20 to discuss 
issues and agree way forward. Agreed to carry out a site visit and agree 
next steps. 2. LA/Cllr Oliver met on site and spoke to a few residents and 
users of Horn Cross Hosptal car park users - 6/3/20.                                                                
3. Cllr Oliver to work with Cllr Jeremy Kite to produce an information 
leaflet for local residents suggesting proposals to address highligted 
issues - March / April 2020 (may be delayed due to COVID-19 impact).                                                                     
4. LA engaged with KCC that there are currently no other measures 
being considered in the area - Subject to delays due to impact of 
COVID 19 -  May / June 2020. LA Mar-20 Jul-20 4 2

7 West Hill

West Hill outside 
Royal Mail Sorting 
Office west of West 
Hill Rise, north side

1. West Hill - Councillor Julie 
A Ozog                                       
2. West Hill - Councillor 
Denzil J Reynolds                                                      
3. West Hill - Councillor Drew 
Swinerd

Replace existing single yellow 
line 'No Waiting  Mon-Fri 
8.30am-5.30pm' on the south 
side from a point 14 metres 
east of its junction with Royal 
Mail access road to a point 15 
metres west of the western 
boundary of No. 48 to double 
yellow ' No Waiting At Any 
Time'.

As part of Phase 2 of the DTCR project, a new 
stop at the West Hill junction is to be provided, 
effectively replacing the Highfield Road stop. 
However, this will not be in operation for at 
another 12 months. The new temporary 
westbound stop was introduced on the current 
position halfway up West Hill following, what I 
think we all feel are justifiable, negative 
comments regarding the now large separation 
of the stop at Home Gardens, which was 
relocated as part of the Phase 1 DTCR 
improvements, and the next westbound stop at 
the top of West Hill, with a distance now of 
c850m. Problems have been reported regarding 
the operation of the new temporary stop on 
West Hill due to parked vehicles obstructing the 
ability of the buses to pull in and I suspect the 
fact that passengers have to pass past the 
parked cars. The stop is currently located in an 
existing layby/slip lane that has a single yellow 
line day time parking restriction. Clearly, 
resources permitting, DBC can enforce the 
parking restriction, but this would not solve the 
out of restricted hours parking problem with the 
buses. Will be funded via from the DTC budget.

Yes see 
P:\TRO\2018 
Consolidation 
order work Yes N/A N/A N/A N/A

Internal 
engageme
nt with 
senior 
officers Aug/Sept 2019 TBC

1. Met with Robin Chantrill-Smith re TRO - 24/9/19.                                                                  
2. Published TRO Notice 3/10/19 with copies on DBC public website, 
Archant Reporte, KCC/DBC reception.                                                                         
3. Informed Keith L, David Cooper, Sheri Green, Martin Smith, TR of 
published Notice - 3/10/19.                                                                                    
4. Made Order and documentation prepared and sent to Robin 
(KCC) 20/1/20. Robin to send to Legal by 3/2/20. Advertise/publish 
by 21/2/20/ to come into operation 28/2/19 and implement on street 
within the order coming into operation (3/3/20).                                                                            
5. Made Order published 21/2/20 and came into force 28/2/20. Road 
markings on site 3/3/20. LA Aug-19 Mar-20 6 C

8 Priory Gardens

Priory Gardens and 
Corner junction with 
Priory Hill

1. West Hill - Councillor Julie 
A Ozog                                    
2. West Hill - Councillor 
Denzil J Reynolds                                                       
3. West Hill - Councillor Drew 
Swinerd

Develop kerb space 
management scheme at the 
junction corner of Priory 
Gardens and Priory Hill and 
Permit scheme operational 
9.30am to 4.30pm

Considered by Cabinet 31st October 2019 and 
agreed not to proceed with a scheme. Receipt 
of a petition undertaken in September 2018 
signed by residents of Priory Gardens to 
support the introduction of a permit parking 
management scheme. Councillors secured 
approval for the first stage of consultation.

Yes see 
P:\TRO\2018 
Consolidation 
order work NA 11/10/2019

02/12/19 
7pm

3/12/19 
7pm

5/12/19 
7pm

Yes - 
Finished 
17/3/19

Consultation in March 2019 / 
update consultation with local 
Ward Councillors in August 2019                         
1. 45% of all households support 
a scheme, very little support for 
yellow and 66.7% respondents 
are against.                                                  
2. To recommend that proposal is 
not progressed. TBC

1. LB sent email 25/2/19 16.45 - To inform Councillors about starting the 
process for parking management consultations.                                                  
2. LB confirmed by email 1/3/19 at 13:18 - Set up necessary, amended 
dates in letters and make web page live and deliver amended letters.                                                                                  
3. LB sent email 19/3/19 - Advised Councillors that consultations finished 
Sunday at 17/3/19 at 23.59, results reviewed with attached summaries 
for each scheme.                                                                                                     
4. Cabinet report signed off by TR 1/10/19. SSG commments received 
14/10/19 and updated same day accordingly. LA Aug-19 Jan-20 6 C

9 Pheonix Place The Estate

1. Princes - Councillor Ricky 
Jones                                           
2. Princes - Councillor Mrs 
Rebecca F Storey                                                        
3. Town - Councillor Chris 
Shippam                                                                  
4. Town Councillor Richard 
Wells       

A new scheme for the whole 
estate starting with initial 'fact 
finding consultation'

The ‘Phoenix Place Community Group’ 
requesting the Council consider the introduction 
of a parking management scheme on the estate 
because a number of non-residents park their 
vehicles on-street in an inconsiderate manner. 
County Councillor and local councillors have 
secured approval for the first stage of 
consultation for the development of a parking 
management scheme.

Yes see 
P:\TRO\2018 
Consolidation 
order work NA TBC TBC TBC TBC Yes

Consultation between 1st and 
10th March 2019 TBC

1. Lewis Boudeville sent email 25/2/19 16.45 - To inform Councillors 
about starting the process for parking management consultations.                                                                                       
2. TBC LA Feb-19 TBC 0 C

2 of 2

P
age 96

A
genda Item

 9



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
 

PMKS/Committee Reports/Ombudsman/Ombudsman Annual Letter 2020 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN – 
ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 2020  
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To receive and note the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual 

Review Letter 2020. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION  
 
2.1 That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 

2020, at Appendix A to the report and the annual summary of statistics on the 
decisions made about the Council for the year ending 31 March 2020, at Appendix 
B, be noted. 
 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion  

 
3.1 Cabinet is referred to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual 

Review Letter 2020 at Appendix A to the report and more specifically, the annual 
summary of statistics on the decisions made  about the Council for the year ending 
31 March 2020 at Appendix B. 

 
3.2 The Ombudsman’s data may not match the data collected by the Council on 

complaints. Typically, the differences between the Ombudsman’s data and data 
held by the Council reflect that the Ombudsman refers a proportion of recorded 
complaints to the Council for local resolution, but complainants may not always 
pursue the complaint. 

 
3.3 Complaints are managed entirely through Pentana.  The system provides for the 

logging, tracking, monitoring and reporting of complaints.  Having instant access to 
complaints information enables the Corporate Complaints Officer to quickly identify 
issues of concern and pass them immediately to the relevant service area for 
resolution.   

 
3.4 In practice with how other ombudsman schemes and how many local authorities 

describe their complaints, the Ombudsman’s decisions are described in terms of 
upholding and not upholding complaints.  

 
3.5 Six new complaints and enquiries were lodged with the Ombudsman in the year 

2019/2020, up from four in the previous year.  Decisions were outstanding on all 
of these cases during 2019/20. The Ombudsman upheld four cases during 
2019/20. 

 
 3.6 The Corporate Complaints Officer monitors the effectiveness of the Corporate 

Complaints Procedure, including the Covalent system, to ensure consistency of 

Page 97 Agenda Item 11



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020  

  

data and any lessons learned about performance and complaint handing 
arrangements are fed back into service improvement initiatives.  Reports are 
presented annually to the Audit Board and quarterly to Management Team.   

 
3.7 Training needs on the complaints process are reviewed annually.  Training was last 

provided to Officers by the Ombudsman’s office in March 2017. Further training will 
be provided towards the end of 2020. 

 
3.8 One of the purposes of the Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter submitted with 

annual summary of statistics is to help ensure that learning from complaints informs 
scrutiny at a local level.   

 
3.9 The Ombudsman has provided guidance on how local authorities should report 

findings of maladministration/fault in regard to routine mistakes and service failures, 
and the authority has agreed to remedy the complaint by implementing the 
recommendations made following an investigation. The duty to report under Section 
5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 is satisfactorily discharged as 
follows: 

 
(a) if the Monitoring Officer makes a periodic report to the authority summarising the 

findings on all upheld complaints over a specific period - this may be adequately 
addressed through an annual report on complaints to Members; 

(b) where an investigation has wider implications for council policy or exposes a more 
significant finding of maladministration, perhaps because of the scale of the fault or 
injustice, or the number of people affected, the Ombudsman expects the Monitoring 
Officer to consider whether the implications of that investigation should be 
individually reported to Members; 

(c) in the unlikely event that an authority is minded not to comply with the 
Ombudsman’s recommendations following a finding of maladministration, the 
Ombudsman always expects the Monitoring Officer to report this to full council.  
The Ombudsman considers this an exceptional and unusual course of action for 
any authority to take and that this should be considered at the highest tier of the 
authority. 

 
Further, under the Local Government Act 1974, whenever the Ombudsman issues 
a formal, public report to the authority, the authority is obliged to lay that report 
before full council for consideration and respond within three months setting out the 
action that it has taken, or proposes to take, in response to the report. 

 
3.10 The Local Government Act 1974 (S34(1)) defines the authorities that the 

Ombudsman may investigate. Parish and town councils are not included in this 
definition. The Ombudsman may however consider a complaint about a parish or 
town council if it is acting on behalf of another council. So, for example, if the 
Borough Council has arranged that a parish council should maintain the grass 
verges, then the Ombudsman may be able to look at a complaint about this. 

 
 In March 2015, the Government consulted on a proposal to extend the jurisdiction 

of the Ombudsman to some town and parish councils. The outcome of the 
consultation is still awaited. 

 

Page 98Agenda Item 11



CABINET 
24 SEPTEMBER 2020  

  

3.11 On 31 July 2019, the Ombudsman launched a new interactive map, called ‘Your 
Council's Performance’. The intention of this tool is to place a focus on local 
authorities’ compliance with Ombudsman investigations. It includes two years’ of 
complaints and remedies data, so people can start to build a picture of performance 
over time. The map can be used by local authority officers to learn from complaints, 
councillors to scrutinise complaints and decisions about their authorities and by 
residents, to hold their local authorities to account. 

  
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 “…. to create strong and self - reliant communities and deliver high quality services 

to service users” 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 

Financial 
Implications 

None 

Legal 
Implications 

None   

Public Sector 
Equality Duty  

The Council has explicit objectives of improving equality of access to 
complaints for vulnerable people, those with language barriers or speech 
problems etc.  The complaint’s form and leaflets are written in plain English. 
Braille, large print, audio and language line (interpretation) facilities are 
available on request. The Council welcomes calls via Relay UK (formerly 
NGT Relay). 

Staffing 
Implications 

None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None 

Risk 
Assessment 

No uncertainties and/or constraints  

 
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2020 
Appendix B – Annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman about the Council for the year ending 
31 March 2020 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Documents consulted Date File Ref Report  

Author 
Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information Category 

   Marie Kelly-Stone 

01322 343434 

Legal Services –
Strategic Directorate 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

 

 

Page 99 Agenda Item 11

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



 

 

 

 

22 July 2020 
 
By email 
 
Ms Green & Ms Martin  
Strategic Directors 
Dartford Borough Council 
 
Dear Ms Green & Ms Martin  
 
Annual Review letter 2020 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending            

31 March 2020. Given the exceptional pressures under which local authorities have been 

working over recent months, I thought carefully about whether it was still appropriate to send 

you this annual update. However, now, more than ever, I believe that it is essential that the 

public experience of local services is at the heart of our thinking. So, I hope that this 

feedback, which provides unique insight into the lived experience of your Council’s services, 

will be useful as you continue to deal with the current situation and plan for the future. 

Complaint statistics 

This year, we continue to place our focus on the outcomes of complaints and what can be 

learned from them. We want to provide you with the most insightful information we can and 

have made several changes over recent years to improve the data we capture and report. 

We focus our statistics on these three key areas: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find some form of fault in an 

authority’s actions, including where the authority accepted fault before we investigated. A 

focus on how often things go wrong, rather than simple volumes of complaints provides a 

clearer indicator of performance. 

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for authorities to put things 

right when faults have caused injustice. Our recommendations try to put people back in the 

position they were before the fault and we monitor authorities to ensure they comply with our 

recommendations. Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a 

compliance rate below 100% should scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply 

and identify any learning. 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority - We want to encourage the early 

resolution of complaints and to credit authorities that have a positive and open approach to 

Appendix APage 101 Agenda Item 11



resolving complaints. We recognise cases where an authority has taken steps to put things 

right before the complaint came to us. The authority upheld the complaint and we agreed  

with how it offered to put things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your authority with similar types of 

authorities to work out an average level of performance. We do this for County Councils, 

District Councils, Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

This data will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s performance, along with a 

copy of this letter on 29 July 2020, and our Review of Local Government Complaints. For 

further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website. 

Resources to help you get it right 

There are a range of resources available that can support you to place the learning from 

complaints, about your authority and others, at the heart of your system of corporate 

governance. Your council’s performance launched last year and puts our data and 

information about councils in one place. Again, the emphasis is on learning, not numbers. 

You can find the decisions we have made, public reports we have issued, and the service 

improvements your Council has agreed to make as a result of our investigations, as well as 

previous annual review letters.  

I would encourage you to share the tool with colleagues and elected members; the 

information can provide valuable insights into service areas, early warning signs of problems 

and is a key source of information for governance, audit, risk and scrutiny functions. 

Earlier this year, we held our link officer seminars in London, Bristol, Leeds and Birmingham. 

Attended by 178 delegates from 143 local authorities, we focused on maximising the impact 

of complaints, making sure the right person is involved with complaints at the right time, and 

how to overcome common challenges.  

We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities 

and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. During the year, 

we delivered 118 courses, training more than 1,400 people. This is 47 more courses than we 

delivered last year and included more training to adult social care providers than ever before. 

To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 102Agenda Item 11

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Dartford Borough Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/20                                                               

 

 

 

Complaints upheld 

  

80% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
45% in similar authorities. 

 
 

4                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 5 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2019 to 31 

March 2020 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the authority had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
99% in similar authorities. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 3 
compliance outcomes for the period 
between 1 April 2019 to 31 March 

2020 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a compliance rate below 100% should 
scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority 

  

In 25% of upheld cases we 
found the authority had provided 
a satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
20% in similar authorities. 

 

1                      
satisfactory remedy decision  

 

Statistics are based on a total of 5 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2020 

 
 

80% 

100% 

25% 

Page 103 Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 104



Page 105 Agenda Item 11



Page 106Agenda Item 11



Page 107 Agenda Item 11



Page 108Agenda Item 11


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on 23 July 2020
	7 Consultation on Changes to Planning Policy and Regulations
	Appendix A Changes to the Current Planning System Aug 2020
	Appendix B Questions and Proposed Responses

	8 Parking Services Annual Report
	Appendix A - Parking Services Report

	9 Guidance - Prioritising Investigation of Reported Parking Issues and Parking Management Schemes
	20200416 Appendix A Sample of Priority List of Parking Management Schemes

	11 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman's Annual Review Letter 2020
	Appendix A - Annual Review letter
	Appendix B - Statistics pdf


